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STATEMENT of the Board
On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), I am pleased to announce the results of See Corporation
Limited (hereafter referred to as the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June
2009.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Film and TV programme production and Artiste & Model management remained the core operations of the
Group and accounted for the largest percentages of our turnover and gross profit during the year ended 30
June 2009. We expect this to remain the case for the foreseeable future.
The Group produced and released six films and one TV programme during the year, namely “The Way We Are
– 天水圍的日與夜”,”The Forbidden Legend: Sex & Chopsticks – 金瓶梅”, “The Vampire Who Admires Me – 有
隻僵屍暗戀你”, “The Forbidden Legend: Sex & Chopsticks II – 金瓶梅II”, “I corrupt all cops – 金錢帝國” and
“Night and Fog – 天水圍的夜與霧”, respectively for films and “The Kung Fu Master Huang Fei Hong – 仁者黃
飛鴻” for TV programme.
“The Way We Are – 天水圍的日與夜” achieved great results at the “The 28th Hong Kong Film Award – 第二十八
屆香港電影金像獎”held in 2009 which is also the year of celebrating 100 years of film-making in Hong Kong.
“The Way We Are – 天水圍的日與夜” received six nominations at the “The 28th Hong Kong Film Award – 第二
十八屆香港電影金像獎”and eventually won 4 major awards, namely the “Best Director – 最佳導演”, the “Best
Actress – 最佳女主角”, the “Best Supporting Actress – 最佳女配角” and the “Best Screenplay – 最佳編劇”,
respectively.
The Group have been working on a number of film and TV programme production during the year. Films,
including “On his majesty’s secret service – 大內密探靈靈狗” and “The future X-cops – 未來警察” will be
released in the second half of 2009. Other films and TV programmes including “Colour of Justice – 黑白戰警”
and “The Underdog Knight – 硬漢” for films, “Rough Justice – 十大奇冤” and “The Dragon Gate – 龍門驛站”
for TV programmes are expected to be released in 2010.
The Group will continue to produce high quality films and TV programmes for the greater china region, especially
for the Mainland China market. Given the continuous opening up and expansion of the film and TV production
market as well as the continuous growth in the box office in Mainland China, management strongly believe that
there is a great potential for the distribution of our film and TV production in Mainland China.
During the year under review, the artiste and model management operation was slowing due to the down
turning of the economy as well as the keen competition in the market.
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Although our music album production business yields only a small percentage of the Group’s total earnings, it
plays a significant role in raising the profile of our artistes and the Group as a whole. We have released seven
new music albums during the year, and more to come in 2010.
We have organised a number of events during the year mostly featured with our models and artistes, such as
promotional activities, live music shows and fashion shows.
We are facing a challenging year ahead with the current economic uncertainties caused by the global financial
turmoil. We are cautiously optimistic in respect to our core operations as we monitor and control our cost and
risk carefully.
We strongly believe that good stories and quality production are always well received by audience. We must
therefore take the greatest care in choosing attractive stories and scripts for our film and TV programme
production projects. The Group will reduce our exposure to such risks by forming joint venture projects to
produce some of our medium-sized films and TV programmes in the next 12 months.
We will continue to enrol promising new talents in our artiste and model portfolio, while enhancing the
professionalism of those we have already managed. In addition, we will make every effort to identify and secure
more high-profile assignments for them.
TVB Pay Vision will maintain its aggressive marketing and promotional programmes during the year ahead; and
we hope these endeavours will continue to improve its business performance.
On 30 June 2009, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement for the disposal of 31% interest out of
the 49% interest in TVB Pay Vision (the “Disposal”) held by the Group at a cash consideration of approximately
HK$212.7 million. In view of the current economic environment, management considers the Disposal a great
opportunity for the Group to dispose part of its stake in TVB Pay Vision and turn it into cash.

APPRECIATION
In the final analysis, any company’s success is due to the commitment and skills of its people, as well as the
cooperation of its business associates and the backing of its shareholders. I therefore wish to close by expressing
my sincere thanks to my fellow Directors, and all the staff of the Group and the Company for their exceptional
efforts during the past year. In addition, I would like to thank our business associates for their proactive
assistance, and our shareholders for their unstinting support.
On behalf of the Board
Mr. Wong Yat Cheung
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 5 October 2009
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Results
The Group’s total turnover during the year ended 30 June 2009 was HK$55.5 million, an increase of 37 percent
on the figure of HK$40.5 million for the financial year in 2008. The Group’s gross profit was HK$11.0 million,
compared with HK$13.7 million in the previous year. The increase in turnover was mainly due to more films
were released during the year than that of last year.
Meanwhile, the Group recorded a loss from operations of approximately HK$264.0 million during the year under
review, compared with the profit from operations of approximately HK$12.3 million in the previous year. The
significant increase in the loss from operations was mainly contributed by the substantial decrease in fair value of
the Group’s investments in listed equity securities due to downturn of the financial market. As a result, the loss
for the year of the Group increased significantly to HK$284.5 million from the 2008 figure of HK$7.2 million.
The loss attributable to equity holders was HK$284.5 million, compared with the HK$7.2 million loss in previous
year. The loss per share for the year ended 30 June 2009 was HK$0.15, compared with HK$0.01 in fiscal year
2008.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The Group was principally engaged in the entertainment and media business. Our activities can be categorised
as (i) film and TV programme production; (ii) music production; (iii) event production; (iv) artiste and model
management; (v) a pay TV operation and (vi) investment in securities.
Film and TV programme production
The Group derived a turnover of HK$44.4 million from film and TV programme production activities during the
year ended 30 June 2009, a 80 percent increase on the figure of HK$24.7 million for the previous year. The
gross profit derived from these activities was HK$7.7 million, compared with HK$7.9 million in fiscal year 2008.
Turnover of this segment for the year was mainly contributed by the six films and one TV programme released
during the year, namely “The Way We Are – 天水圍的日與夜”, “The Forbidden Legend: Sex & Chopsticks – 金
瓶梅”, “The Vampire Who Admires Me – 有隻僵屍暗戀你”, “The Forbidden Legend: Sex & Chopsticks II – 金瓶
梅 II”, “I corrupt all cops – 金錢帝國” and “Night and Fog – 天水圍的夜與霧”, respectively for films and “The
Kung Fu Master Huang Fei Hong – 仁者黃飛鴻” for TV programme.
As of 30 June 2009, the total net book value of the Group’s film rights stood at HK$32.0 million. The write
down on film rights during the year amounted to HK$19.9 million. The Group’s total film and TV programme
production in progress as of 30 June 2009 were amounted to HK$119.5 million. Films, including “On his
majesty’s secret service – 大內密探靈靈狗” and “The future x-cop – 未來警察” will be released in the second
half of 2009. Other films and TV programmes including “Colour of Justice – 黑白戰警” and “The Underdog
Knight – 硬漢” for films, “Rough Justice – 十大奇冤” and “The Dragon Gate – 龍門驛站” for TV programmes
are expected to be released in 2010.
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Music production
The Group released seven new music albums during the year, namely “今天 將來” by JJ 賈曉晨, “真心唱歌” by
高皓正, “Ladies Nite” by EO2, “Just Go” by 狄易達, “海盜啤” by 啤梨 – 葉文輝, “少女大帝” and “Bear label
kids’ songs Vol.1” by various artistes.
The turnover of the Group’s music album production business during the year was HK$1.1 million, compared
with HK$0.4 million in fiscal year 2008.
Although music production only accounts for a small portion of the Group’s total earnings, the Group will
continue to produce music albums for our artistes as it will boost the popularity of our artistes as well as the
Group’s image.
Event production
The Group organised a number of events during the year. These mainly included promotional activities, live music
shows and fashion shows featured with the Group’s artistes and models. Turnover from the event production
for the year were HK$1.3 million compared with the previous year’s figure of HK$0.5 million.
Artiste and model management
The Group continued to manage a group of popular artistes and models including Meng Yao, JJ 賈曉晨, 高皓
正, Annie Man, Yedda Chao, EO2 and 狄易達.
Turnover and gross profit of the artiste and model management operation for the year were HK$8.7 million and
HK$3.1 million respectively, compared with the previous year’s figures of HK$12.5 million and HK$3.0 million.
Pay TV operation
The operating result of TVB Pay Vision, a paid TV operator in which the Group holds a 49% interest, improved
in 2009 as a result of the increase in its number of subscribers. Turnover of TVB Pay Vision grew by 8 percent
to HK$275.2 million from HK$255.1 million during the 12 months up to 30 June 2009, and its net loss in the
same period declined by 11 percent from HK$239.8 million to HK$213.5 million. The Group’s share of loss of
TVB Pay Vision were nil in both fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009.
On 30 June 2009, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement for the disposal of 31% interest
out of the 49% interest in TVB Pay Vision (the “Disposal”) held by the Group at a cash consideration of
approximately HK$212.7 million. Upon completion of the Disposal, a disposal gain of approximately HK$165.9
million is expected to be recorded in next financial year and the remaining 18% interest in TVB Pay Vision will
be accounted for as an investment by the Group.
Investment in securities
Turnover of the investment in securities operation for the year were nil compared with HK$2.4 million in fiscal
2008. The carrying value of the total segment assets of the investment in securities operation as at 30 June
2009 and 2008 were HK$54.9 million and HK$256.0 million, respectively.
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GEOGRAPHICAL REVIEW
During the year under review, the Group continued to focus on the Hong Kong and Mainland China markets.
The revenue derived from Hong Kong and Mainland China amounted to HK$23.1 million and HK$30.0 million,
respectively, representing 42 percent and 54 percent of our total turnover.

FUTURE BUSINESS PROSPECTS AND PLANS
The Group has dedicated its efforts in strengthening and opening up distribution channels for its film and TV
production in Mainland China. Given the continuous opening up and expansion of the film and TV production
market as well as the continuous growth in the box office in Mainland China, we strongly believe that there is
a great potential for the distribution of our film and TV production in Mainland China.
We are facing a challenging year ahead with the current global economic uncertainties caused by the global
financial turmoil. We are cautiously optimistic in respect to the prospects of the film and TV production industry
in Hong Kong. The Group will be cautious in the selection of stories and scripts for the production of our films
and TV programmes. Stringent measures will be adopted in the cost control and risk management for the
Group’s Film and TV projects.

FINANCIAL REVIEW AND LIQUIDITY
As at 30 June 2009, the Group’s net assets amounted to HK$3.4 million, compared with HK$287.8 million on
the same date last year. The current ratio, representing current assets divided by current liabilities was 1.7. The
Group’s cash and bank balances amounted to HK$31.5 million on the balance sheet date. The Group issued
convertible notes for principal amounts of HK$170 million and HK$100 million in August 2005 and in December
2007, respectively. On 30 June 2009, the fair value of the liability component of these convertible notes was
approximately HK$249.9 million. At the balance sheet date, the Group had a short-term bank borrowing of
approximately HK$10.0 million. The gearing ratio, as a ratio of total borrowings over total assets was 0.8.
In the event that the Group requires additional funds for further development of the Group’s existing business/
new investments when suitable opportunities arise/repayment of its future financial obligations, the Board will
consider to carry out equity fund raising activities and/or dispose of the Group’s existing assets. In particular,
the Group may consider to dispose of its remaining equity interests in TVBP and/or its existing investments in
listed securities when favorable market conditions arise.
The Group had contingent liabilities of HK$24 million on the balance sheet date, mainly as a result of a corporate
guarantee provided to a financial institution in respect of banking facilities granted to former subsidiaries. HK$5.5
million of the banking facilities were utilized by those former subsidiaries and this amount was subject to a claim
by the financial institution concerned.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE RATES AND RELATED HEDGES
During the year, the revenue and cost for film and TV programme production, music album production, event
production, artiste and model management services and investment in securities were mainly dominated in
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. Borrowings in terms of loans and convertible notes were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars.
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As the exchange rates of Hong Kong dollars against Renminbi were relatively stable during the year, the Group’s
exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates was minimal.
The Group will closely monitor the foreign currency exposure and to arrange for hedging facilities when
necessary.

EMPLOYEE SCHEMES
As at 30 June 2009, the Group has 53 employees (All based in Hong Kong). The remuneration policy and package
of the Group’s employees are periodically reviewed and approved by the executive directors. Apart from provident
fund scheme and in-house training programmes, medical insurance scheme, discretionary bonuses and share
options may also be awarded to employees according to the assessment of individual performances.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 30 June 2009, certain assets of the Group with aggregate carrying value of HK$21 million (2008: HK$21
million) were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Company.

MAJOR LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS
1.

The Company and its ex-subsidiary, P.N. Electronics Ltd. (“PNE”) have been involved in arbitration
proceedings with North American Foreign Trading Corporation (“NAFT”) in respect of a gross receivable
of HK$18 million and related damages from various parties for goods shipped by PNE and NAFT in 1996.
The arbitration proceedings were initiated by NAFT against the Company and PNE claiming for alleged
damages in New York, USA. The Company has upon legal advice, vigorously contested the alleged
claims and has counterclaimed the said sum of HK$18 million as well as other damages. The arbitration
proceedings have been dormant for a substantial period of time.

2.

On 13 October 2003, a Writ of Summons and Statement of Claim was issued by BII Finance Company
Limited (“BII Finance”) against the Company under a guarantee allegedly given by the Company in favour
of BII Finance in respect of certain liabilities of Welback Enterprises Limited. The claim is for a sum of
approximately HK$3,583,000 and US$248,000 (approximately HK$1,936,000), together with interest.
The Company has issued Third Party proceedings against Mr. Lee Chun Kwok and Mr. Fong Wing Seng,
former directors of the Company, seeking a contribution to the extent of 49% of BII Finance’s claim in
the event that the Company is found liable to BII Finance (which is denied).
The Company will continue to defend BII Finance’s claim, and will also continue to pursue the Third Party
proceedings against Mr. Lee Chun Kwok and Mr. Fong Wing Seng. BII Finance has not taken any steps
to progress with the action since June 2006.
Save as disclosed above, no member of the Group is engaged in any litigation or claims of material
importance and no litigation or claims of material importance is known to the directors to be pending or
threatened by or against any member of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report
The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is pleased to present this Corporate
Governance Report in the Company’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2009.

Corporate Governance Practices of the Company
The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance so as to ensure “Accountability,
Responsibility and Transparency” towards the shareholders, stakeholders, investors as well as the employees of
the Company.
The Board has adopted all the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as the code of the
Company (the “Code”). During the year, save and except as hereinafter mentioned, the Company has complied
with all the Code Provisions of the CG Code.
The Board reviews its Code from time to time to ensure its continuous compliance with the CG Code. The Board
has included certain amendments to the Code on corporate governance practices on 23 June 2009 to reflect
certain amendments of the Listing Rules effective on 1 January 2009. The key corporate governance principles
and practices of the Company are summarized as follows:

Board Composition
As at 30 June 2009, the Board comprised six members (three Executive Directors including the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer and three Independent Non-executive Directors) of which Messrs. Li Fui Lung, Danny and
Ng Hoi Yue, Herman have the appropriate accounting qualification or related financial management expertise as
required by the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong Yat Cheung resigned as the Managing Director with effect from 8
June 2009 but continued to act as the Executive Director. Mr. Yu Kam Kee, Lawrence,

B.B.S., M.B.E., J.P.,

resigned

as the Chairman and the Executive Director with effect from 1 October 2009.
The composition of the Board represents a mixture of expertise specializing in management, media and
entertainment industry, accounts and finance and corporate development. All of the Directors have comprehensive
qualifications and experience in and exposure to diversified businesses which shall be beneficial to the business
development of the Company. The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship with each other.
The Board is responsible for formulating and implementing the Company’s strategic planning, promoting
corporate development as well as policies and objectives setting. For the year ended 30 June 2009, each Executive
Director is assigned with specific responsibilities to enhance the effectiveness of the Company:
–

Mr. Yu Kam Kee, Lawrence, B.B.S., M.B.E., J.P., the Chairman, is responsible for formulating the Company’s
long term goal and strategy. He is the leader for the Board and takes the role of overseeing the
effectiveness of the Board in achieving the Company’s long term goal and strategy.

14
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Board Composition (Continued)
–

Dr. Allan Yap, the Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for implementing the Company’s strategy,
managing and monitoring the performance of the management and overseeing the daily operation of the
Company. He is also responsible for the Group’s treasury management and soliciting other investment
opportunities for the Company.

–

Mr. Wong Yat Cheung is responsible for overseeing and developing the Company’s media and
entertainment businesses and general management.

Details of the composition of the Board, by category of Directors, including names of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, Executive Directors, Independent Non-executive Directors and their respective experience and
qualification are included in the “Profile of The Directors” section of this annual report.

Board Meetings
The Board met regularly throughout the year to discuss the business development, operational and financial
performance of the Company.
The attendance rates of Board members at the Board Meetings (either in person or by phone) held during the
year ended 30 June 2009 are set out in the following table:
Attendance of Board Members
Number of Board
Name of Directors

Total number of

Meetings attended by

Board Meetings Held

individual Director

6
Executive Directors
Yu Kam Kee, Lawrence,

B.B.S., M.B.E., J.P.

(Chairman)

(resigned on 1 October 2009)

5

Allan Yap (Chief Executive Officer)

1 (Note 1)

Wong Yat Cheung

5 (Note 2)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Li Fui Lung, Danny

6

Ng Hoi Yue, Herman

6

Shek Lai Him, Abraham,

S.B.S., J.P.

N/A (Note 3)

Fong Shing Kwong, Michael

0 (Note 4)

Heung Pik Lun

4 (Note 5)

See Corporation Limited Annual Report 2009
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Board Meetings (Continued)
Notes:
1.

Dr. Allan Yap was appointed as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer on 8 June 2009. After his appointment,
there were 2 Board Meetings held during the year ended 30 June 2009.

2.

Mr. Wong Yat Cheung resigned as the Managing Director with effect from 8 June 2009 but continued to act as the
Executive Director.

3.

Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham,

S.B.S., J.P.,

retired as Independent Non-executive Director on 1 October 2008. Before his

retirement, there was no Board Meeting held during the year ended 30 June 2009.
4.

Mr. Fong Shing Kwong, Michael resigned as Independent Non-executive Director on 10 November 2008. Before his
resignation, there was only 1 Board Meeting held during the year ended 30 June 2009.

5.

Mr. Heung Pik Lun was appointed as Independent Non-executive Director on 20 March 2009. After his appointment,
there were 4 Board Meetings held during the year ended 30 June 2009.

All minutes of the Board Meetings are prepared and kept by the Company Secretarial Department and open for
inspection by Directors at any time.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are clearly segregated and performed by two
Executive Directors of the Company. Mr. Yu Kam Kee, Lawrence,

B.B.S., M.B.E., J.P.,

who resigned as the Chairman

with effect from 1 October 2009, is responsible for the Company’s long term strategic planning and business
development as well as the management of the full Board while Dr. Allan Yap, the Chief Executive Officer,
is responsible for implementing the Company’s strategy, managing and monitoring the performance of the
management and overseeing the daily operation of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors
The Company has signed appointment letters with all of the Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company. Pursuant to such appointment letters, each of the Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company is appointed for a fixed term of directorship of three years and is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company.
On 10 November 2008, Mr. Fong Shing Kwong, Michael resigned as an independent non-executive director
of the Company due to his other business and personal commitments, and ceased to be a member of the
audit committee and the remuneration committee on the same date. The Company then had two independent
non-executive directors and two audit committee members, the number of which fell below the minimum
number required under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. However, the Company complies with the
requirements of Rule 3.10(2) and second part of Rule 3.21 in which one of the independent non-executive
directors has the professional qualifications as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)
Mr. Heung Pik Lun was appointed as an independent non-executive director and a member of the audit committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company with effect from 20 March 2009. Save for the period from Mr.
Fong’s resignation to the appointment of Mr. Heung, the Company has at least three independent non-executive
directors and three audit committee members throughout the year ended 30 June 2009.

Management Functions
In general, the daily management and administration functions of the Company have been delegated to the
management except for certain matters specifically reserved to the Board for decision. Those matters include the
setting of the overall strategic direction and long-term objectives of the Company, approval of annual business
plan, material acquisitions and disposals of assets, investments, connected transactions and capital projects, key
human resources issue, preliminary interim and final results announcements, determination of interim and final
dividends, appointment of Directors and annual assessment of internal control system.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
A formal and transparent procedure has been in place in selecting the Directors of the Company. Appointment
of new Directors is reserved for the Board’s approval. The Board shall take into account of that person’s skill,
qualifications and expected contributions to the Company before the appointment.
During the year, Dr. Allan Yap was appointed by the Board as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer on
8 June 2009 as an addition to the Board while Mr. Heung Pik Lun was appointed by the Board as Independent
Non-executive Director on 20 March 2009 to fill a casual vacancy.
During the year, there was 1 Board Meeting (either in person or by phone) held regarding the appointment of
new Director. All Directors for the time being, namely Messrs. Yu Kam Kee, Lawrence,

B.B.S., M.B.E., J.P.,

Wong Yat

Cheung, Li Fui Lung, Danny, Ng Hoi Yue, Herman and Heung Pik Lun attended throughout that meeting.
According to the Bye-Laws of the Company, the newly appointed Director shall hold office until the next following
general meeting of the Company (in case of filling a casual vacancy) or until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company (in case of an addition to the Board) and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
general meeting. In addition, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors (those appointed in
that year shall not be counted in determining the number of Directors), including those appointed for specific
terms, for the time being or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not greater
than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that notwithstanding anything herein, every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Induction and Professional Development
Every newly appointed Director shall receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his appointment to make sure that he has a proper understanding of the operations and business of the
Company and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities in the Company.

See Corporation Limited Annual Report 2009
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Induction and Professional Development (Continued)
Continuing professional development is a vital part for Directors in this fast changing and competitive business
environment. The Company has engaged its legal adviser, Richards Butler in association with Reed Smith LLP,
to launch its second corporate governance training for Directors on 23 June 2009. The objective is to explain
to and discuss with the Directors major amendments to the Code. These amendments were introduced as a
result of the amendments to the certain provisions of the Listing Rules which became effective on 1 January
2009. The Directors paid particular attention on “Memorandum on the duties and responsibilities of a director
of a company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited” and “Memorandum to
directors regarding certain amendments to the Company’s Code on Corporate Governance Practices” prepared
by Richards Butler in association with Reed Smith LLP in June 2009.

Directors’ Securities Transactions
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange as its Code and Guidelines for the
Directors and certain employees (who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information)
of the Company to follow and observe in dealing with the securities of the Company.
The Board has reviewed and adopted certain amendments to its Code and Guidelines for the Directors and
certain employees in March 2009 and June 2009 respectively in order to align the recent changes to the Model
Code effective on 1 January 2009 and 1 April 2009 respectively.
Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the Company’s Code and Guidelines and the Model Code throughout the year ended 30 June 2009.
No incident of non-compliance of the Code and Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for Accounts
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements for each financial period
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company. In preparing the financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2009, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on
a going concern basis.
The statement of the external auditors of the Company regarding their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statement of the Company is set out on pages 40 and 41 of this annual report.

Remuneration of Directors
A remuneration committee was established on 26 October 2005, currently comprising one Executive Director,
Dr. Allan Yap and three Independent Non-executive Directors, being Messrs. Li Fui Lung, Danny, Ng Hoi Yue,
Herman and Heung Pik Lun.
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Remuneration of Directors (Continued)
The main duties and responsibilities of the remuneration committee are to determine the remuneration packages
of all Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors and senior management of the Company,
make recommendations to the Board to improve the transparency of the Company’s overall remuneration policy
and to review and approve the compensation arrangements relating to any loss or termination of office of
Directors and senior management. A Remuneration Committee Charter, which clearly defined the role, authority
and function of the remuneration committee, has been adopted by the Company on 26 October 2005.
One remuneration committee meeting was held during the year to review the remuneration package of each
Director and each member of senior management. At this meeting, the remuneration committee decided that
the salaries and fees for general staff and Directors should be frozen for 12 months which came into effect on
1 January 2009.
The attendance rates of committee members at the remuneration committee meeting (either in person or by
phone) held during the year ended 30 June 2009 are set out in the following table:
Attendance of Remuneration Committee Members
Total number of
Remuneration
Committee
Meeting Held

Name of Committee Members

Number of Remuneration
Committee Meeting
attended by individual
Committee Member

1
Yu Kam Kee, Lawrence,

B.B.S., M.B.E., J.P.

(Chairman)

(resigned on 1 October 2009)
Li Fui Lung, Danny
Ng Hoi Yue, Herman
Shek Lai Him, Abraham, S.B.S., J.P.
Fong Shing Kwong, Michael
Heung Pik Lun

1
1
1
N/A (Note 1)
N/A (Note 2)
N/A (Note 3)

Notes:
1.

Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham,

S.B.S., J.P.,

ceased to be remuneration committee member on 1 October 2008. Before his

cessation, there was no remuneration committee meeting held during the year ended 30 June 2009.
2.

Mr. Fong Shing Kwong, Michael ceased to be remuneration committee member on 10 November 2008. Before his
cessation, there was no remuneration committee meeting held during the year ended 30 June 2009.

3.

Mr. Heung Pik Lun was appointed as remuneration committee member on 20 March 2009. After his appointment,
there was no remuneration committee meeting held during the year ended 30 June 2009.

All minutes of the remuneration committee meetings are prepared and kept by the Company Secretarial
Department and open for inspection by Directors and remuneration committee members at any time.
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Audit Committee
An audit committee currently comprising three Independent Non-executive Directors, being Messrs. Li Fui Lung,
Danny, Ng Hoi Yue, Herman and Heung Pik Lun was duly established. Amongst the audit committee members,
two members have the appropriate professional qualification and experience in financial matters as required by
the Listing Rules.
The main duties and responsibilities of the audit committee are to review the Company’s financial information
such as the interim and annual results, financial reporting principles and practices; to recommend the appointment
and reappointment or removal of the external auditors, to determine their independence and objectivity as well
as to review the scope of audit and the reporting obligation of the external auditors; to oversee the financial
reporting system and the internal control and risk management system of the Company.
An Audit Committee Charter, which clearly defined the role, authority and function of the audit committee, has
been duly modified by the Company on 26 October 2005 and further revised by the Company on 23 March 2009
and 23 June 2009 so as to cope with the changes of the Listing Rules which took effect on 1 January 2009.
Four audit committee meetings were held during the year mainly to review the appointment of auditors, the
financial performance of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2008 and for the six months ended 31
December 2008, the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting functions, their training program, budget and the internal control system and related
issues.
The attendance rates of committee members at the audit committee meetings (either in person or by phone)
held during the year ended 30 June 2009 are set out in the following table:
Attendance of Audit Committee Members
Number of Audit

Name of Committee Members

Total number of

Committee Meetings

Audit Committee

attended by individual

Meetings Held

Committee Member

4
Li Fui Lung, Danny (Chairman)

4

Ng Hoi Yue, Herman

4

Shek Lai Him, Abraham,

20

S.B.S., J.P.

N/A (Note 1)

Fong Shing Kwong, Michael

0 (Note 2)

Heung Pik Lun

2 (Note 3)

See Corporation Limited Annual Report 2009

Corporate Governance Report

(Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)
Notes:
1.

Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham,

S.B.S., J.P.,

ceased to be audit committee member on 1 October 2008. Before his cessation,

there was no audit committee meeting held during the year ended 30 June 2009.
2.

Mr. Fong Shing Kwong, Michael ceased to be audit committee member on 10 November 2008. Before his cessation,
there was only 1 audit committee meeting held during the year ended 30 June 2009.

3.

Mr. Heung Pik Lun was appointed as audit committee member on 20 March 2009. After his appointment, there were
2 audit committee meetings held during the year ended 30 June 2009.

All minutes of the audit committee meetings are prepared and kept by the Company Secretarial Department
and open for inspection by Directors and audit committee members at any time.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The total auditors’ remuneration in respect of statutory audit and non-audit services provided by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng, the Company’s external auditors, during the year ended 30 June 2009 are set out at the table
below:
Services rendered

Fees paid/payable

Statutory audit fees

HK$600,000

Fees for non-audit services
Review of interim results

HK$100,000

Ad hoc projects

HK$350,000

Taxation services

HK$150,000

Total auditors’ remuneration for the year

HK$1,200,000

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Internal control is fundamental to the successful operation and day-to-day running of a business and it assists a
company in achieving its business objectives. While it aims to support the achievement of business objectives, it
should serve as an early warning system of possible impediments to achieving those objectives. Internal control
shall be useful to Directors, senior management and other key personnel that are accountable for control in the
Company as well as acting as a tool in providing Directors and senior management with information of sufficient
quality to make good business decisions and meet their regulatory obligations.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
In light of the above, an Internal Control Policy and Procedures has been formulated and implemented within the
Company with the primary objective of providing general guidance and recommendations on a basic framework
of internal control and risk management. The key objectives of the internal control include:
–

Safeguarding assets

–

Ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of financial records and reports

–

Promoting adherence to policies, procedures, regulations and laws

–

Promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations

The Internal Control Policy and Procedures covers, amongst others, the following material activities – finance,
operational and compliance controls:
Finance
Effective financial control is a vital element of internal control. It helps in identifying and managing liabilities
to ensure that the Company is not unnecessarily exposed to avoidable financial risks. It also contributes to the
safeguarding of assets from inappropriate use or loss, including the prevention and detection of fraud and
errors.
In order to achieve effective financial control, a set of measures have been formulated and implemented to
tighten the control on cash flow. All payments should be properly checked and approved. Proper accounting
and financial records shall be maintained in supporting financial budgets, monthly management accounts and
reports. There should be a reliable interim and year-end reporting. The Company’s assets should be properly
recorded, maintained and used.
Operational
With regard to the Company’s entertainment and media businesses, different sets of principles and procedures
have been set up for different teams (film and TV programme production team, music production team, model
management team and artiste management team) to follow. It is expected that through the implementation of
the above principles and procedures, the production process and budget approval process should become more
transparent and efficient.
These principles and procedures include the preparation of production plans and budgets, formulating a screening
and approval process, setting up of an on-going monitoring system for production in progress and production
cost spending and guidelines for music and movie products stocks keeping.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Compliance
The Company has fully complied with the Listing Rules requirements. Financial reports, announcements and
circulars have been prepared and published in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Company has engaged Lak & Associates C.P.A. Limited (“Lak & Associates”) to undertake the role of reviewing
and assessing the Company’s internal control and risk management system and to evaluate its effectiveness and
efficiency on the internal control. Lak & Associates has prepared a report to the Board and senior management
on the findings of the internal control and risk management systems implemented by the Company and help to
identify any significant areas of concern and made recommendations to the Board accordingly.

Communication with Shareholders
The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of promoting investor relations and communications with
shareholders.
The Company’s senior management and the Company Secretarial Department have undertaken the role of
establishing an effective communication system. They will respond to the enquiries from shareholders/investing
public or the media from time to time. The Company also maintains a website (http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/see)
through which the Company’s updated financial information, announcements and press releases can be accessed
by the shareholders and investors. The Board believes that the Company’s website provides an alternative means
for the investing public to obtain information of the Company in a convenient and timely manner.
Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting. However, the Chairman of the Board was absent from the annual general meeting (“AGM”) due to his
prior business engagement and has designated Mr. Wong Yat Cheung, who resigned as the Managing Director
with effect from 8 June 2009 but continued to act as the Executive Director, to attend the AGM on his behalf.
Mr. Wong Yat Cheung together with other Directors maintained an on-going dialogue with shareholders and
answered all questions raised by the shareholders throughout the AGM.

Whistle Blowing Policy
To deter wrongdoing and to promote standards of good corporate practices, the Company has adopted a whistle
blowing policy at a Board meeting held on 30 December 2008. The policy aims at encouraging and enabling
employees of the Group at all levels and others to report violations or suspected violations and to raise serious
concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
The Directors have pleasure in presenting the report of the Directors of the Group for the year ended 30 June
2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group is principally engaged in (i) film and TV
programme production, (ii) event production, (iii) artiste and model management, (iv) music production, (v) a
pay TV operation and (vi) investment in securities. Details of the principal activities and other particulars of the
Company’s significant subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and geographical segments is set out in note
7 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2009 are set out in the consolidated income statement on
page 42.
The states of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2009 are set out in the balance sheets on
pages 43 to 44 and 45 respectively.
The cashflows of the Group are set out in the statement on pages 47 and 48.
The Directors do not recommend a payment of dividend nor transfer of any amount to reserves for the year
ended 30 June 2009.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out
on page 120.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 19
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements in the share capital and share options of the Company during the year are set out in
notes 36 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserve of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Directors in office during the financial year and up to the date of this report are:
Executive Directors
Mr. Yu Kam Kee, Lawrence,

B.B.S., M.B.E., J.P.

(Chairman)

(resigned on 1 October 2009)

Dr. Allan Yap (Chief Executive Officer)

(appointed on 8 June 2009)

Mr. Wong Yat Cheung

(resigned as Managing Director on 8 June 2009
but continued to act as Executive Director)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Fui Lung, Danny
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, Herman
Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham,

S.B.S., J.P.

(retired on 1 October 2008)

Mr. Fong Shing Kwong, Michael

(resigned on 10 November 2008)

Mr. Heung Pik Lun

(appointed on 20 March 2009)

Pursuant to Bye-law 86(2) of the Company’s Bye-Laws, Dr. Allan Yap shall only hold office until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company (in case of an addition to the Board) and Mr. Heung Pik Lun shall only
hold office until the next following general meeting of the Company (in case of filling a casual vacancy); and
they, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at that meeting.
Pursuant to Bye-law 87(2) of the Company’s Bye-Laws, Mr. Wong Yat Cheung shall retire from office by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at that
meeting.
None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
The Company has received from the Independent Non-executive Directors annual confirmation of independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company has assessed their independence and
concluded that all the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent within the definition of the Listing
Rules.
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PROFILE OF the DIRECTORS
Profile of the Directors of the Company as at the date of this report are set out on pages 34 to 39.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
There were no contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its holding company
or any of its fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, which subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 30 June 2009, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
were as follows:
(A)

Shares
As at 30 June 2009, the interests of the Directors and chief executive in the share capital of the Company
and its associated corporations as defined in the SFO were as follows:
Approximate
Name of

Name of

Director

Company

Yu Kam Kee, Lawrence

See Corporation

Number of
Shares

Capacity

of Interest

41,276,820

Beneficial

2.13%

Limited
Wong Yat Cheung

Mega-Vision
Productions
Limited
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)
(B)

Share options
The Company has a share option scheme under which Directors may, at their discretion, grant options
to employees, including any directors, of the Company or its subsidiaries to subscribe for shares in the
Company, subject to the terms and conditions stipulated. During the year ended 30 June 2009, there
were no outstanding share options granted to the Directors of the Company.
Save as aforesaid, as at 30 June 2009, to the knowledge of the Company:
(i)

none of the Directors, or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest
or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which the Directors and the chief executive are taken or
deemed to have under the provisions of the SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the
Listing Rule;

(ii)

none of the Directors or chief executive or their spouses or children under 18 had any right to
subscribe for the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company, or had exercised any
right during the year ended 30 June 2009.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its holding company or any of its
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or the chief executive of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate and none of the Directors, the chief executive, their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any such right, save as the share options
disclosed in the previous section headed “Directors’ Interest in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 30 June 2009, shareholders (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
Number of
Long Position/
Name of Shareholder

Short Position Capacity

ITC Corporation Limited

Long Position

Interest of controlled

(“ITC”) (Note)

Number of

Underlying

Approximate

Shares Held/

Shares Held/

Percentage of

Involved

Involved

Interest

358,091,595

–

18.47%

–

407,407,407

21.01%

358,091,595

–

18.47%

–

407,407,407

21.01%

347,837,595

–

17.94%

–

407,407,407

21.01%

347,837,595

–

17.94%

–

407,407,407

21.01%

corporations
Long Position

Interest of controlled
corporation

ITC Investment

Long Position

Interest of controlled

Holdings Limited

corporations

(“ITC Investment”)
(Note)

Long Position

Interest of controlled
corporation

Mankar Assets Limited

Long Position

Interest of controlled

(“Mankar”) (Note)

corporation
Long Position

Interest of controlled
corporation

Famex Investment Limited

Long Position

Interest of controlled

(“Famex”) (Note)

corporation
Long Position

Interest of controlled
corporation

Hanny Holdings Limited

Long Position

Beneficial owner

347,837,595

–

17.94%

Long Position

Beneficial owner

–

407,407,407

21.01%

(“Hanny”) (Note)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)
Note:
Famex holds approximately 49.86% shareholding interests in Hanny. Famex is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Mankar.
Mankar is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Investment, which in turn is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC. Famex,
Mankar, ITC Investment and ITC are deemed to be interested in 347,837,595 shares and 407,407,407 underlying shares
directly held by Hanny.
10,254,000 shares are held by Vigour Services Limited (“Vigour”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Investment. ITC
Investment and ITC are deemed to be interested in 10,254,000 shares held by Vigour.
Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company and recorded in the
register maintained under Section 336 of the SFO as at 30 June 2009.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS, SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS
On 10 August 2005, the Company issued zero coupon convertible notes in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$170 million to Hanny Holdings Limited (“Hanny”) at the conversion price of HK$0.12 per share of HK$0.01
each of the share capital of the Company, subject to adjustment and upon the terms contained therein.
On 5 December 2007, the Company issued 1% convertible notes in the aggregate principal amount of HK$100
million to Hanny at the conversion price of HK$0.40 per share of HK$0.01 each of the share capital of the
Company, subject to adjustment and upon the terms contained therein.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the year, 44% of the Group’s purchases were attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers with the
largest supplier accounting for 20% of the Group’s purchases. In addition, 62% of the Group’s turnover was
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers with the largest customer accounting for 33% of the Group’s
turnover.
As at 30 June 2009, to the knowledge of the Directors of the Company, none of the Directors, their associates
or any shareholders owning more than 5% of the Company’s share capital had any beneficial interests in the
Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year ended 30 June 2009, the following Director(s) were considered to have interests in the following
businesses, being businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Name of Director

Name of Entity the businesses
of which are considered to
compete or likely to compete
with the businesses of
the Group

Description of businesses of
the Entity which are
considered to compete or
likely to compete with the
businesses of the Group

Nature of Interests
of the Director in
the Entity

Wong Yat Cheung

Affluence Pictures Limited

Film production and
related business

As a director and
a shareholder

Bad Boy Film Culture Limited

Film production and
related business

As a director

Bob & Partners Co., Limited

Film production and
related business

As a director

Film Dynasty Limited

Film production and
related business

As a director

Jing’s Production Limited

Film production and
related business

As a director and
a shareholder

Most Valuable Productions Limited

Film production and
related business

As a director and
a shareholder

Rich & Famous Film & TV
Production Limited

Film production and
related business

As a director and
a shareholder

Rich & Famous Talent Management
Group Limited

Artiste management business

As a director and
a shareholder

Universal Media & Entertainment
Group Limited

Function and artiste
management business

As a director and
a shareholder

Storm Riders Management
Co Limited

Film production and
distribution

As a director and
a shareholder

Winning Partners Entertainment
Company Limited

Import/Export

As a director and
a shareholder

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 30 June 2009, none of the Directors have any interest in business
which competes or may compete with the business of the Group, or have or may have any other conflicts of
interest with the Group.
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PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors
as at the date of this report, there is sufficient public float of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 30 June 2009.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Details of significant subsequent events are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITORS
Messrs. HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible to
offer themselves for re-appointment.
On behalf of the Board
Mr. Wong Yat Cheung
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 5 October 2009
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Yu Kam Kee, Lawrence, B.B.S., M.B.E., J.P., aged 64, was appointed as an Executive Director and the
Chairman of the Company on 24 August 2004 and the chairman of the remuneration committee of the
Company on 26 October 2005. He is also a director of TVB Pay Vision Holdings Limited and TVB Pay Vision
Limited, all of which are associates of the Company. Mr. Yu resigned as the Chairman and the Executive
Director of the Company and the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company with effect from
1 October 2009.
Mr. Yu has undergone training at Bayer AG and Cassella AG in Germany and has accumulated many years of
extensive experience in the chemical industry. He is the Honorary Life President of the Hong Kong Dyestuffs
Merchants Association Limited. He also serves on many charitable and social organisations. He is now the CoChairman of the Campaign Committee of The Community Chest of Hong Kong, Governor of the Hong Kong
Automobile Association, Director of the Hong Kong Football Association Limited and Chairman of the Campaign
Committee of the Road Safety Council. He is also the Senior Advisor of China Renji Medical Group Ltd. and an
independent non-executive director of both Great China Holdings Limited and Global Flex Holdings Limited,
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Yu was the chairman and executive director of China Renji Medical Group Ltd. and Wing On Travel (Holdings)
Limited (shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange) until 18 April 2007 and 1 December 2007 respectively
when his resignation as the chairman and executive director of both companies took effect. Mr. Yu was also
the chairman and non-executive director of Trasy Gold Ex Limited (shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange) until 1 October 2009 when his resignation took effect. Save as disclosed, Mr. Yu did not hold any
other directorship in listed public companies in the last three years.
As at the date of this report, Mr. Yu does not have any relationship with any directors, senior management
or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. As at the date of this report, he is interested in
41,276,820 shares of the Company, representing approximately 2.13% of the total issued share capital of the
Company, within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
Mr. Yu has not entered into any service contract with the Company. He has not been appointed for a specific
term of service and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election pursuant to the Bye-Laws. The amount
of director’s fee received by Mr. Yu for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 was HK$1,200,000 which was
determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities in the Company and market benchmark.
Save as disclosed above, there are no other matters which are required to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company, or to be disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements under Rule 13.51(2)(h)
to (v) of the Listing Rules.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Continued)
Dr. Allan Yap, aged 53, was appointed as an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
on 8 June 2009 and the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company on 1 October 2009. Dr. Yap
is currently a director of Mega-Vision Productions Limited, Mega-Vision Pictures Limited and See Movie Limited,
all of which are subsidiaries of the Company. He is also a director of TVB Pay Vision Holdings Limited and TVB
Pay Vision Limited, all of which are associates of the Company.
Dr. Yap obtained the Honorary degree of Doctor of Laws and has over 27 years’ experience in finance, investment
and banking. Dr. Yap is the chairman of Hanny Holdings Limited (shares of which are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange and which is a substantial shareholder of the Company) and an executive director of Wing
On Travel (Holdings) Limited (shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange). He was an
executive director of BIG Media Group Limited (shares of which are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
the Stock Exchange) until 20 July 2009 when his resignation as a director took effect. He is the chairman and
chief executive officer of China Enterprises Limited, a company whose shares are traded on the OTC Securities
Markets in the United States of America, as well as Burcon NutraScience Corporation, a company whose shares
are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange in Canada and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in Germany. Dr. Yap is an
executive chairman of PSC Corporation Ltd., Intraco Limited and Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd., all of which are
companies whose shares are listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited. He is also the chairman of MRI Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. Save as disclosed, Dr. Yap
did not hold any other directorship in listed public companies in the last three years.
As at the date of this report, save as disclosed above, Dr. Yap does not have any relationship with any directors,
senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. As at the date of this report, he
does not have any interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
Dr. Yap has not entered into any service contract with the Company. He has not been appointed for a specific
term of service and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election pursuant to the Bye-Laws. Dr. Yap has
not received any director’s remuneration, bonus payment or other benefits by the Company for the year ended
30 June 2009. His emolument will be reviewed by the remuneration committee of the Company in the next/
forthcoming committee meeting with reference to his position, his level of responsibilities, remuneration policy
of the Company and prevailing market conditions.
Save as disclosed above, there are no other matters which are required to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company, or to be disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements under Rule 13.51(2)(h)
to (v) of the Listing Rules.
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Profile of the Directors

(Continued)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Continued)
Mr. Wong Yat Cheung, aged 54, was appointed as an Executive Director and Managing Director of the
Company on 13 February 2007. Mr. Wong has resigned as Managing Director of the Company on 8 June 2009
but continued to act as Executive Director of the Company. He is also a director of Mega-Vision Productions
Limited, Mega-Vision Pictures Limited, Seethru Limited, Grand Class Investment Limited and See Base Limited
(formerly known as “The Metropolis Wedding Group Limited”), all of which are subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Wong is a prominent director, producer and scriptwriter in Hong Kong, both in terms of box-office success
and breaking new grounds for film production. He graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1978
and holds a bachelor’s degree in Chinese Language and Literature. Having over 30 years experience in the Hong
Kong film and television industry, he has produced over 100 films and TV drama-series. Some of his reputable
film sequels are “The Romancing Star”, “God of Gamblers” and “Young and Dangerous”, all of which set new
movie box-office records as well as new trends for the Hong Kong movie scene. He was recently awarded by
UA Cinemas as the Movie Director with the Highest Box-Office Record between 1985 and 2005. Mr. Wong did
not hold any directorship in listed public companies in the last three years.
As at the date of this report, Mr. Wong does not have any relationship with any directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save that Mr. Wong holds 2,000,000 ordinary shares in
Mega-Vision Productions Limited, an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, he does not have any
interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO as at the date of this report.
Mr. Wong has not entered into any service contract with the Company. He has not been appointed for a
specific term of service and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the ByeLaws. The amount of director’s emolument received by Mr. Wong for the financial year ended 30 June 2009
was HK$1,812,000 which was determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities in the Company and
market benchmark. He is also entitled to a housing allowance of HK$35,000 per month.
Save as disclosed above, there are no other matters which are required to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company, or to be disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements under Rule 13.51(2)(h)
to (v) of the Listing Rules.
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Profile of the Directors

(Continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Li Fui Lung, Danny, aged 56, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director and the chairman
of the audit committee of the Company on 23 October 2001 and a member of the remuneration committee of
the Company on 26 October 2005. Save as disclosed above, he does not hold any positions with the Company
or any subsidiary of the Company.
Mr. Li graduated with a Bachelor of Science Degree from the University of Hong Kong and subsequently obtained
postgraduate certificate in accountancy from the University of Stirling in Scotland. He has over 28 years experience
in the accounting profession and after qualifying as Chartered Accountant in 1980 with Ernst & Whinney in
Scotland, has worked as finance manager, controller and internal auditor in major multinational companies.
Mr. Li is the sole proprietor of Messrs. Danny Li & Company, a certified public accountants firm in Hong Kong,
and has been practising as a certified public accountant in Hong Kong for more than 8 years. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Scotland
and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia. He is also an independent non-executive director of
Centraland Limited whose shares are listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange. Save as disclosed, Mr. Li did not
hold any other directorship in listed public companies in the last three years.
As at the date of this report, Mr. Li does not have any relationship with any directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. As at the date of this report, he does not have any
interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
Mr. Li has not entered into any service contract with the Company. An appointment letter has been signed
between Mr. Li and the Company for a period of 3 years commencing from 1 October 2006 to 30 September
2009. He is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election pursuant to the Bye-Laws. The amount of director’s
fee received by Mr. Li for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 was HK$120,000 which was determined with
reference to his duties and responsibilities in the Company and market benchmark.
Save as disclosed above, there are no other matters which are required to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company, or to be disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements under Rule 13.51(2)(h)
to (v) of the Listing Rules.
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Profile of the Directors

(Continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Continued)
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, Herman, aged 45, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director and a member
of the audit committee of the Company on 16 May 2002 and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company on 26 October 2005. Save as disclosed above, he does not hold any positions with the Company or
any subsidiary of the Company.
Mr. Ng is an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a fellow
member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. He has been practising as a certified public accountant in Hong Kong since 1989. He
is also an independent non-executive director of Henry Group Holdings Limited whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange. Save as disclosed, Mr. Ng did not hold any other directorship in listed public companies in the
last three years.
As at the date of this report, Mr. Ng does not have any relationship with any directors, senior management
or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. As at the date of this report, he does not have any
interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
Mr. Ng has not entered into any service contract with the Company. An appointment letter has been signed
between Mr. Ng and the Company for a period of 3 years commencing from 1 October 2006 to 30 September
2009. He is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election pursuant to the Bye-Laws. The amount of director’s
fee received by Mr. Ng for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 was HK$100,000 which was determined with
reference to his duties and responsibilities in the Company and market benchmark.
Save as disclosed above, there are no other matters which are required to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company, or to be disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements under Rule 13.51(2)(h)
to (v) of the Listing Rules.
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Profile of the Directors

(Continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Continued)
Mr. Heung Pik Lun, aged 47, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director and a member of the
audit committee and the remuneration committee of the Company on 20 March 2009. Save as disclosed above,
he does not hold any positions with the Company or any subsidiary of the Company.
Mr. Heung graduated from the University of Windsor with a Bachelor Degree of Arts in 1985. He has substantial
experience in general management and administration affairs. Mr. Heung did not hold any directorship in listed
public companies in the last three years.
As at the date of this report, Mr. Heung does not have any relationship with any directors, senior management
or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. As at the date of this report, he does not have any
interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
Mr. Heung has not entered into any service contract with the Company. An appointment letter has been signed
between Mr. Heung and the Company for a period of 3 years commencing from 20 March 2009 to 19 March
2012. He is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election pursuant to the Bye-Laws. The amount of director’s
fee received by Mr. Heung for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 was approximately HK$28,000 which was
determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities in the Company and market benchmark.
Save as disclosed above, there are no other matters which are required to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company, or to be disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements under Rule 13.51(2)(h)
to (v) of the Listing Rules.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
31st Floor Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
11 Pedder Street
Central
Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SEE CORPORATION LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of See Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to 119 which comprise the consolidated
and company balance sheets as at 30 June 2009, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control
relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and
to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

(Continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at 30 June 2009 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 5 October 2009

See Corporation Limited Annual Report 2009

41

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 30 June 2009
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

55,455

40,455

Cost of sales

(44,486)

(26,740)

Gross profit

10,969

13,715

Notes

Turnover

6

Other revenue

8

1,306

7,596

Other income

8

–

117

(9,240)

(4,226)

Administrative expenses

(37,333)

(47,765)

Other operating expenses

(28,608)

(47,082)

(201,088)

89,919

9

(263,994)

12,274

10

(20,479)

Distribution costs

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

(Loss)/profit from operations

–

Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill
Finance costs

–

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

(284,473)

Loss before taxation
Taxation

12

Loss for the year

13

–

(1,092)
(20,468)
2,082

(7,204)
–

(284,473)

(7,204)

(284,473)

(7,204)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company

–

Minority interests

–

(284,473)

(7,204)

HK$(0.15)

HK$(0.01)

Loss per share attributable to equity holders of
the Company
Basic and diluted

14

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
At 30 June 2009
2009
HK$’000

2008
HK$’000

33
14,246
9,505
26,583
–

49
14,263
10,246
72,365
–

50,367

96,923

26

31,986
119,465
370
224

13,894
106,149
676
400

27
28
29
30

13,691
54,929
–
31,547

50,713
256,017
763
46,168

31

252,212
45,782

474,780
–

297,994

474,780

64,881
–
9,995
99,325

17,561
5,742
9,938
–

174,201

33,241

Net current assets

123,793

441,539

Total assets less current liabilities

174,160

538,462

170,784

250,613

3,376

287,849

Notes
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Leasehold land
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in associates
Goodwill

Current assets
Film rights
Film production in progress
Music production in progress
Inventories
Trade and other receivables, deposits and
   prepayments
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and bank balances

Assets held for sale

Less: Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Short-term loan – unsecured
Bank overdraft – secured
Convertible notes

Less: Non-current liabilities
Convertible notes
Net assets

17
18
19
20
23

24
25

32
33
34
35

35
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

(Continued)

At 30 June 2009

Notes

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

Equity
Capital and reserves attributable to the
Company’s equity holders
36

Share capital
Reserves

19,388

19,388

(16,012)

268,461

3,376

287,849

–

–

3,376

287,849

Minority interests

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 5 October 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Wong Yat Cheung

Dr. Allan Yap

Executive Director

Executive Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

44

See Corporation Limited Annual Report 2009

BALANCE SHEET
At 30 June 2009

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets
Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and bank balances

Less: Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Short-term loan – unsecured
Convertible notes

Notes

2009
HK$’000

2008
HK$’000

17
19
22

33
1,137
340,029

49
1,381
455,075

341,199

456,505

380
–
26,485

39,876
763
39,349

26,865

79,988

32,024
–
99,325

4,166
5,742
–

131,349

9,908

(104,484)

70,080

236,715

526,585

170,784

250,613

65,931

275,972

19,388
46,543

19,388
256,584

65,931

275,972

27
29
30

32
33
35

Net current (liabilities)/assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Less: Non-current liabilities
Convertible notes

35

Net assets
Equity
Capital and reserves attributable
to the Company’s equity holders
Share capital
Reserves

36
37

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 5 October 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Wong Yat Cheung

Dr. Allan Yap

Executive Director

Executive Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
At 30 June 2009
Attributable to the equity holders of the Company
Convertible

At 1 July 2007
Issue of shares pursuant to rights issue

Share

Share

notes Accumulated

Minority

capital

premium

reserve

deficits

Sub-total

interests

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

6,462

362,707

45,920

(280,353)

134,736

–

134,736

12,926

–

–

–

12,926

–

12,926

Premium arising from issue of shares
–

142,178

–

–

142,178

–

142,178

Shares issue expenses on rights issue

pursuant to rights issue

–

(4,845)

–

–

(4,845)

–

(4,845)

Convertible notes – equity component

–

–

10,058

–

10,058

–

10,058

Net loss for the year

–

–

–

(7,204)

(7,204)

–

(7,204)

19,388

500,040

55,978

(287,557)

287,849

–

287,849

–

–

–

(284,473)

(284,473)

–

(284,473)

19,388

500,040

55,978

(572,030)

3,376

–

3,376

At 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008
Net loss for the year
At 30 June 2009

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 30 June 2009
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
(284,473)

Loss before taxation

(7,204)

Adjustments for:
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

–

(2,082)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill

–

1,092

19,868

28,297

Write down on film rights
Write down on film production in progress
Write down on music production in progress and inventories

–

3,621

531

3,414

8,209

11,750

Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade and
   other receivables, deposits and prepayments

(2)

Interest income
Interest expense

(4,954)

20,433

20,431

201,088

(89,919)

1,127

1,223

17

17

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
   profit or loss
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of leasehold land
Amortisation of trademark

16

16

Amortisation of film rights

36,540

13,183

1,137

369

4,491

(20,746)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Operating cash flows before working capital changes
Increase in film rights

(74,500)

(25,333)

Increase in film production in progress

(13,316)

(91,860)

(49)

(1,659)

Increase in music production in progress and inventories

28,813

(21,090)

Decrease in loan receivables

–

40,000

Increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

–

(147,048)

Decrease in held-to-maturity investments

–

17,341

47,215

1,371

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Increase in trade and other payables
Cash used in operations
Tax paid
Net cash used in operating activities

(7,346)
–
(7,346)

(249,024)
–
(249,024)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

(Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2009
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

2

4,954

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest income received
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities

(1,523)

(1,242)

(1,521)

3,712

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares pursuant to rights issue

–

155,104

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes

–

100,000

Decrease in short-term loan

(5,742)
–

Issue costs of shares

(40,000)
(4,845)

(832)

(4,104)

(6,574)

206,155

(15,441)

(39,157)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

36,993

76,150

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

21,552

36,993

31,547

46,168

–

763

Interest expense paid
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances
Pledged bank deposits
Bank overdraft

(9,995)

(9,938)

21,552

36,993

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2009

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 27 March 1992 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The address of the registered office of the Company is Clarendon House, Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda and the address of the principal place of business of the Company is Office D & E, 20th Floor,
EGL Tower, No. 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set
out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$’000) except
otherwise indicated.

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)
In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following new standards, amendments
and interpretations (“new HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), which are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning 1 July 2008.
HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7

Reclassification of Financial Assets

(Amendments)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 & HKAS 39

Embedded Derivatives

(Amendments)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 12

Service Concession Arrangements

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13

Customer Loyalty Programmes

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14

HKAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their Interaction

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect on how the results and financial position for
the current or prior accounting periods have been prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior period
adjustment has been required.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2009

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
The Group has not early applied the following new and revised standards, amendments or interpretations
that have been issued but are not yet effective.
HKFRSs (Amendments)

Improvements to HKFRSs 20081

HKFRSs (Amendments)

Improvements to HKFRSs 20092

HKAS 1 (Revised)

Presentation of Financial Statements3

HKAS 23 (Revised)

Borrowing Costs3

HKAS 27 (Revised)

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements4

HKAS 32 & 1 (Amendments)

Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation3

HKAS 39 (Amendments)

Eligible Hedged Items4

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27

Cost of an investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or

(Amendments)

Associate3

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopter5

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations3

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions5

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

Business Combinations4

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments3

HKFRS 8

Operating Segments3

HK(IFRIC) – Int 15

Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate3

HK(IFRIC) – Int 16

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation6

HK(IFRIC) – Int 17

Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners4

HK(IFRIC) – Int 18

Transfer of Assets from Customers7

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 except for the amendments to HKFRS 5,
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

2

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009, 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as
appropriate.

3

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

4

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

5

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010

6

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008

7

Effective for transfers on or after 1 July 2009

The Group is in the process of assessing the potential impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in position
to determine whether these new HKFRSs will have a significant impact on how its results of operations
and financial position are prepared and presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2009

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.
(a)

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which is a collective term that
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”), and Interpretations (“Ints”) issued by the HKICPA and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under historical cost convention except
for certain financial assets which are carried at fair values. The preparation of the consolidated
financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Company’s accounting policies.

(b)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 30 June each year.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal,
as appropriate.
All significant intercompany transactions and balances within the Group are eliminated on
consolidation.
Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are presented separately from the
Group’s equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of those interests
at the date of the original business combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity
since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s
interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except to the
extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to
cover the losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2009

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(c)

Investments in subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an enterprise controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has
the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise
so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

(d)

Interests in associates
An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in
associates are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of associates, less any identified impairment losses.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of future losses. An additional share
of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate.
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition
is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment
and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment.
When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

(e)

Interest in jointly controlled entity
Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which venturers
have joint control over the economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled
entities.
The Group recognises its interest in jointly controlled entity using proportionate consolidation.
The Group’s share of each of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly controlled
entity are combined with the Group’s similar line items, line by line, in the consolidated financial
statements.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e)

Interest in jointly controlled entity (Continued)
When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity of the Group, unrealised profits or
losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entity.

(f)

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary or an associate represents the excess of the cost
of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the relevant subsidiary or associate at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill
is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is presented separately in the balance
sheet.
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated to each
of the relevant cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the
unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit on the pro rata basis of the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the income
statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
Goodwill arising from acquisition of an associate is included in the carrying amount of the
investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment.

(g)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses at the balance sheet date. The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its present working condition and location for
its intended use. Expenditure incurred after the asset has been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance and overhaul costs, is normally charged to the income statement in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has
resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of
the asset, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of the asset.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or fair value of property, plant and equipment
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line basis, at the following annual rates:
Buildings

:

Over 40 years

Leasehold improvement

:

20%

Furniture, fixture and equipment

:

20%

Motor vehicles

:

20%

The gain or loss arising from disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the
sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
(h)

Leasehold land
Leasehold land represents prepaid lease payments made for leasehold land. Leasehold land is
stated at cost less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
The cost of leasehold land is amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the relevant
leasehold land or the operation period of the relevant company.

(i)

Film rights
Film rights represent films and television drama series produced or acquired by the Group for
reproduction, distribution and sub-licensing, are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any identified impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the consolidated income statement
based on the proportion of actual income earned during the year to the total estimated income
from the distribution of film rights. The amortisation of film rights will not exceed twenty years.
In the case where there is any impairment in value, the unamortised balance is written down to
its estimated recoverable amount.

(j)

Film and music production in progress
Film and music production in progress represent films, televisions drama series and music records
under production, are stated at cost incurred to date, less any identified impairment losses. Cost
is transferred to films and music production rights upon completion.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(k)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets, which comprise artiste contract rights and trademarks, are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any identified impairment losses. The categories of the intangible
assets are summarised as follows:
(i)

Artiste contract rights
Artiste contract rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any identified
impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the consolidated income statement over the
contract terms.

(ii)

Trademarks
Trademarks are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any identified impairment
losses. Amortisation is charged to the consolidated income statement over the contract
terms.

(l)

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the
first-in, first-out basis and comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs
and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present locations
and conditions. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less all costs to completion and costs to make the sale.

(m)

Revenue recognition
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the consolidated income statement as follows:
(i)

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered and title has passed.

(ii)

Revenue from licensing of the distribution rights over films and television programmes is
recognised when the master materials of films are delivered to customers and the title has
passed.

(iii)

Revenue from provision of model and artiste services are recognised when services
rendered.

(iv)

Revenue from event productions is recognised when the events are completed or the services
are provided.

(v)

Realised profits or losses from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised on a trade date basis.

(vi)

Interest income is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at
the interest rate applicable.

(vii)

Rental income, including rentals invoices and advance from properties under operating
leases, recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant leases.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n)

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance
sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the Company’s net investment
in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange differences are recognised in equity in
the consolidated financial statements. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses
are recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange differences are also recognised
directly in equity.
For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities
of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate
component of equity (the translation reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a
foreign operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the translation reserve.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(o)

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the contract transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the consolidated income statement on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The Group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are capitalised at their fair value at the date of acquisition or, if
lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the balance sheet as an obligation under finance leases. Finance charges, which
represent the difference between the total leasing commitments and the recorded value of the
assets acquired, are charged to the income statement over the term of the relevant leases so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for
each accounting period.
Rental payable under operating leases are charged to the consolidated income statement on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivables as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised as a deduction of rental expense over
the lease term on straight-line basis.

(p)

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the consolidated balance sheet when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. Financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
i.

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three categories, including financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets that
requires delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace. The accounting policies adopted in respect of each category of financial
assets are set out below.
Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.
Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those
financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss, of which interest income
is included in net gains or losses.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss has two subcategories, including financial
assets held for trading and those designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial
recognition.
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
(i)

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

(ii)

it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

(iii)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
i.

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are not those financial assets acquired
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term but designated by management on
inception. A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated
as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition if:
(i)

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

(ii)

the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or
both, which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy,
and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

(iii)

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives and HKAS
39 permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as fair
value through profit or loss.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables including other receivables, pledged bank deposits and
cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial
assets below).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
i.

Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated or not
classified as any of the other categories (set out above). At each balance sheet date
subsequent to initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value. Changes in fair value are recognised in equity, until the financial asset is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is removed from equity and recognised in the consolidated income
statement. Any impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in the
consolidated income statement. Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not reverse in subsequent periods. For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment
losses are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.
For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition. An
impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired. The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Such impairment losses will not reverse in subsequent periods.
Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and
ability to hold to maturity. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy in respect of impairment
loss on financial assets below).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
i.

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been impacted.
For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of that investment below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:
(i)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

(ii)

default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

(iii)

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed
not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective
basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.
For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
i.

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for
all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the
date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not be reversed in profit
or loss in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss is
recognised directly in equity.

ii.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the group after deducting all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are generally
classified into financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other financial
liabilities.
Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected
life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.
Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis other than those financial
liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, of which the interest expense
is included in net gains or losses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
ii.

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss has two subcategories, including
financial liabilities held for trading and those designated at fair value through profit or loss
on initial recognition.
A financial liability is classified as held-for-trading if:
(i)

it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near future;
or

(ii)

it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

(iii)

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at
fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition if:
(i)

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

(ii)

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities
or both, which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy,
and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

(iii)

it forms part of a contract containing one of more embedded derivatives, and HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined
contract to be designated as fair value through profit or loss.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised
directly in the consolidated income statement in the period in which they arise. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any interest paid on the financial liability.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
ii.

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities including creditors and accruals, securities trading and margin
payable, deposits and receipts in advance, bank and other borrowings and amounts due
to associates are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method.
Convertible notes
Convertible notes issued by the Company that contain both financial liability and equity
components are classified separately into respective liability and equity components on initial
recognition. On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is determined
using the prevailing market interest rate of similar non-convertible debts. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible notes and the fair value assigned
to the liability component, representing the embedded call option for the holder to convert
the notes into equity, is included in equity (convertible notes – equity reserve). Transaction
costs that relate to the issue of the convertible notes are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible notes is carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The equity component, representing
by the option to convert the liability component into ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible notes reserve until the embedded option is exercised (in which case
the balance stated in convertible notes – equity reserve will be transferred to share capital
and share premium). Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance
stated in convertible notes – equity reserve will be released to retained profits. No gain or
loss is recognised in income statement upon conversion or expiration of the option.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
ii.

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible notes (Continued)
If the conversion option of convertible notes exhibits characteristics of an embedded
derivative, it is separated from its liability component. On initial recognition, the derivative
component of the convertible notes is measured at fair value and presented as part of
derivative financial instruments. Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially recognised
as the derivative component is recognised as the liability component. Transaction costs
are apportioned between the liability and derivative components of the convertible notes
based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and derivative components when the
instruments are initially recognised. The portion of the transaction costs relating to the
liability component is recognised initially as part of the liability. The portion relating to the
derivative component is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability component and amortised over the period of the convertible notes using the
effective interest method.
Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets
expire or, the financial assets are transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly
in equity is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract
is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid or payable is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(q)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The tax
currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit is the profit for the year,
determined in accordance with the rules established by the taxation authorities, upon which
income taxes are payable.
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the
initial recognition (other than a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investment in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

(r)

Impairment of assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment of assets (excluding inventories, investment properties
and financial assets other than interest in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures), or whether
there is any indication that an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. An
impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the year in which it arises,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, when the impairment loss is accounted for in
accordance with the relevant policy for that revalued asset.
i.

Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its net selling price and value in use.
The net selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length
transaction while value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected
to arise from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful
life. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(r)

Impairment of assets (Continued)
ii.

Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in
respect of goodwill is reversed only if the loss has been caused by a specific external event of
an exceptional nature that is not expected to recur, and the increase in recoverable amount
relates clearly to the reversal of the effect of that specific event. A reversal of impairment
losses is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to the consolidated income statement in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

(s)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

(t)

Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, as a
result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation, Where the
effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value at the
balance sheet date of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

(u)

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Transaction
costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a
financial asset or financial liability, including fees and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers
and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net
of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.

See Corporation Limited Annual Report 2009

67

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2009

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(v)

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will
be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability is not
recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a change
in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised
as a provision.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly
within the control of the Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When
inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

(w)

Employee benefits
(i)

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leaves, leave passage and the cost to the Group of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees of the Group. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would
be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii)

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds are required under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Funds Schemes Ordinance are recognised as an expense in the consolidated
income statement as incurred.

(iii)

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the share
options and restricted share awards is recognised as an expense in the consolidated income
statement. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined with
reference to the fair value of the share options and restricted share awards granted. At
each balance sheet date, the Company revises its estimates of the number of share options
that are expected to become exercisable and the number of restricted share awards that
become vested. It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in
the consolidated income statement, and a corresponding adjustment to equity in the
consolidated balance sheet will be made over the remaining vesting period.

(iv)

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits
itself to terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy
by having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(x)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(i)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (a) controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with, the Group; (b) has an interest in the Group that gives
it significant influence over the Group; or (c) has joint control over the Group;

(ii)

the party is an associate;

(iii)

the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(iv)

the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

(v)

the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi)

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or
for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any
individual referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii)

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group,
or of any entity that is a related party of the Group.

(y)

Disposal group classified as held for sale
A disposal group is classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will be
recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and the disposal group
is available for sale in its present condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be disposed
of together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities directly associated with those assets
that will be transferred in the transaction.
Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of all individual assets and
liabilities in a disposal group in brought up-to-date in accordance with the accounting policies
before the classification. Then, on initial classification as held-for-sale and until disposal, the
disposal group is recognised at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.
Impairment loss in initial classification as held-for-sale, and on subsequent remeasurement under
held-for-sale, is recognised in the consolidated income statement. As long as a disposal group is
classified as held-for-sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated and amortised.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
UNCERTAINTY

JUDGEMENTS

AND

KEY

SOURCES

OF

ESTIMATION

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
(i)

Estimated impairment of intangible assets and goodwill
The Group performs annual tests on whether there has been impairment of intangible assets and
goodwill in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 3(f). The recoverable amounts
of cash-generating units are determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates and assumptions made by management on the future operation of the
business, pre-tax discount rates, and other assumptions underlying the value-in-use calculations.

(ii)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables and other receivables
The provision of impairment loss on trade and other receivables of the Group is based on the
evaluation of collectability and aging analysis of accounts and on management’s estimate. In
determining whether impairment is required, the Group takes into consideration the aging
status and likelihood of collection. When recoverability of trade and other receivables are called
into doubts, specific provision of impairment loss on trade and other receivables is made on the
difference between the estimated future cash flow expected to receive being discounted using
the original effective interest rate and the carrying value.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)
(iii)

Estimated Impairment of film and music production in progress
The management of the Group reviews an aging analysis at each balance sheet date, and identify
the slow-moving film and music production in progress that are no longer suitable for use in
production. The management estimates the net realisable value for such film and music production
in progress based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market conditions of the finished
products. In addition, the Group carries out review on each film and music record at each balance
sheet date and makes allowance for any film and music production in progress that production
no longer proceed.

(iv)

Estimated impairment of films rights
At each balance sheet date, the directors of the Company carry review of the carrying amount
of each film by reference to its estimation of total projected revenues from each film, which
base on the historical performance, incorporating factors such as the past box office record of
the lead actors and actress, the genre of the film, pre-release market research, the expected
number of theatres that the film will be released to and the anticipated performance in the
home entertainment, television and other ancillary markets, and agreement for future sales. The
estimates for residual values of the film rights are continually evaluated based on the changes in
consumer demand.

(v)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment
in order to determine the amount of depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful lives are
estimated at the time the asset is acquired based on historical experience, the expected usage,
wear and tear of the assets, as well as technical obsolescence arising from changes in the market
demands or service output of the assets. The Group also performs annual reviews on whether the
assumptions made on useful lives continue to be valid.

(vi)

Provision for obsolete inventories
Management reviews the condition of inventories of the Group at each balance sheet date and
makes provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable
for sale. Management estimates the net realisable value for such inventories based primarily on
the latest invoice prices and current market conditions. Management reassesses the estimation at
each balance sheet date.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s major financial instruments include equity investments, short-term loans, trade receivables,
trade payables, cash and cash equivalents and convertible notes and were classified into the categories
as follows:
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

45,238

97,644

54,929

256,017

344,985

283,854

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and bank balances)
Financial assets designated as at fair value through
profit or loss
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.
Market risk
(i)

Foreign currency risk management
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and majority of transactions are dominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group is exposed to limited foreign exchange risk as most assets
and liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB. Therefore, the Group is exposed
to foreign exchange risk arising from these currency exposures. Hong Kong dollars are pegged
to the United States dollars and the foreign exchange exposure between them are considered
limited. The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk in respect of exchange fluctuation of Hong Kong dollars against RMB. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign current assets and
liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
(ii)

Price risk
The Group’s equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which are measured at fair value at each balance sheet date and expose the Group to equity price
risk. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity securities operating in produce
and sales of videos and films and trading in metals and securities, which are quoted in the Stock
Exchange. The management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risk profiles. In addition, the Group will monitor the price risk and will consider hedging
the risk exposure should the need rise.
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk
at the reporting date.
If equity prices had been 5% higher/lower, the Group’s:
•

loss before taxation for the year ended 30 June 2009 would decrease/increase by
HK$2,746,000 (2008: decrease/increase by HK$12,801,000) as a result of the changes in
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

(iii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its short-term loans.
Short-term loans at variable rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk (see note 34 for
details of these loans). The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates. The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.
As at 30 June 2009 and 2008, a reasonably possible change of 50 basis-points interest rates on
borrowings would have no material impact on the Group’s results for the year and equity as at
the year end.
As at 30 June 2009, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
balance sheet.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Credit risk
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regards,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade or other receivables. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk. The exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Liquidity risk
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate bank deposits and cash, monitoring forecast
and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by management. Reports with maturity dates of bank
borrowings and thus the liquidity requirement are provided to management for review periodically.
Management will raise or refinance bank borrowings whenever necessary.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be settled into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are based on the contractual undiscounted payments, were as follows:
At 30 June 2009
Weighted
average
effective

Total
Over undiscounted

Total

interest

Within

Within 2

rate

1 year

to 5 years

5 years

cash flows

carrying
amount

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

64,881

–

–

64,881

64,881

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Bank overdraft-secured

5%

10,495

–

–

10,495

9,995

Convertible notes

8%

102,000

187,000

–

289,000

270,109

177,376

187,000

–

364,376

344,985

Total
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
At 30 June 2008
Weighted
average
effective

Total

Total

Over undiscounted

carrying

interest

Within

Within 2

rate

1 year

to 5 years

5 years

cash flows

amount

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

–

17,561

–

–

17,561

17,561

Short-term loan-unsecured

–

5,742

–

–

5,742

5,742

Bank overdraft-secured

5%

10,435

–

–

10,435

9,938

Convertible notes

8%

–

289,000

–

289,000

250,613

33,738

289,000

–

322,738

283,854

Total

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:
•

the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) with
standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference
to quoted market bid prices and ask prices respectively; and

•

the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis using prices or rates from observable current market transaction as input. For an optionbased derivative, the fair value is estimated using option pricing model.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)
Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values:
2009

2008

Carrying

Carrying

amount

Fair value

amount

Fair value

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

270,109

249,920

250,613

221,800

Financial liabilities
Convertible notes

Capital management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of debts which include short-term loan, bank overdraft and
convertible notes, cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.
The directors of the Company review the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of this review,
the directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Capital management (Continued)
The Group aimed at maintaining a gearing ratio of not more than 100%. The gearing ratios as at 30
June 2009 and 2008 are as follows:
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

Total debt (note i)

280,104

266,293

Less: Cash and bank balances

(31,547)

(46,168)

Net debt

248,557

220,125

3,376

287,849

Net debt to equity ratio

7362%

76%

Total debt to equity ratio

8297%

93%

Equity (note ii)

Notes:
(i)

Debt comprises the unsecured short-term loan, secured bank overdraft and unsecured convertible notes as
detailed in note 33, note 34 and note 35 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

(ii)

Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
issue of new shares, new borrowings raised and repayment of borrowings.
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6.

TURNOVER
Turnover of the Group represents revenue from (i) film and TV programme production, (ii) event
production, (iii) artiste and model management, (iv) music production and (v) investment in securities.
The amounts of each significant category of turnover recognised during the year are as follows:
The Group
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

Turnover
44,440

24,670

Event production

1,264

519

Artiste and model management

8,690

12,531

Music production

1,061

354

–

2,381

55,455

40,455

Film and TV programme production

Net gains from the sale of investments at fair value
through profit or loss, net (note i)

Note:
(i)

No sale of investments at fair value through profit or loss noted during the year. Net gains from the sale of
investments at fair value through profit or loss in 2008 represents the proceeds from the sale of investments at
fair value through profit or loss of HK$36,696,000 less the cost of sales and carrying amount of the investments
sold of HK$34,315,000.

78

See Corporation Limited Annual Report 2009

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2009

7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(a)

Business segments
Business segment information is chosen as the primary reporting format because this is more
relevant to the Group’s internal financial reporting.
The following table presents revenue and results, certain assets, liabilities and expenditures
information for the Group’s business segments of 2009:
Film and
TV
programme
production
HK$’000

Artiste and
Event
model
production management
HK$’000
HK$’000

Music
production
HK$’000

Investment
in
securities
HK$’000

Others Consolidated
HK$’000
HK$’000

Segment revenue

44,440

1,264

8,690

1,061

–

–

55,455

Segment results

7,701

18

3,138

112

–

–

10,969

(6,188)
(9,730)
(20,791)

(537)
(1,438)
–

(315)
(5,768)
(2,102)

(2,152)
(310)
(696)

–

(48)
(20,087)
(5,019)

1,306
(9,240)
(37,333)
(28,608)

–

–

–

–

(201,088)

–

(201,088)

Interest income and unallocated gains
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses
Change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Loss from operations
Finance costs

(263,994)
(20,479)

Loss before taxation
Taxation

(284,473)
–

Loss for the year

(284,473)

Segment assets
Segment liabilities
Other segment information:
Capital expenditures
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairment loss recognised
   in respect of:
   Trade and other receivables,
    deposits and prepayments
Write down on:
   Film rights
   Music production in progress
    and inventories

166,388

241

4,260

356

54,929

122,187

348,361

23,738

10,199

7,683

1,011

–

302,354

344,985

115
212
–

–
130
–

85
170
16

–
–
–

–
–
–

1,323
615
17

1,523
1,127
33

923

–

2,102

165

–

5,019

8,209

19,868

–

–

–

–

–

19,868

–

–

–

531

–

–

531
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(a)

Business segments (Continued)
The following table presents revenue and results, certain assets, liabilities and expenditures
information for the Group’s business segments of 2008:
Film and
TV
programme
production
HK$’000

Event
production
HK$’000

Artiste and
model
management
HK$’000

Music
production
HK$’000

Investment
in
securities
HK$’000

Others
HK$’000

Consolidated
HK$’000

Segment revenue

24,670

519

12,531

354

2,381

–

40,455

Segment results

7,897

382

3,011

44

2,381

–

13,715

(2,189)
(8,854)

–
(2,120)

(1,507)
(9,750)

(402)
(559)

–
–

(128)
(26,482)

(4,226)
(47,765)

(38,125)

–

(2,020)

(3,414)

–

(3,523)

(47,082)

–

–

–

–

89,919

–

89,919

Interest income and unallocated gains
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses
Change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

7,713

Profit from operations
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of goodwill
Finance costs
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

(1,092)
(20,468)
2,082

Loss before taxation
Taxation

(7,204)
–

Loss for the year

(7,204)

Segment assets
Segment liabilities
Other segment information:
Capital expenditures
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairment loss recognised
   in respect of:
   Trade and other receivables,
    deposits and prepayments
   Goodwill
Write down on:
   Film rights
   Film production in progress
   Music production in progress
    and inventories
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134,719

387

3,030

1,609

256,017

175,941

571,703

6,148

11,037

4,197

1,072

–

261,400

283,854

903
107
13,183

–
130
–

306
111
16

–
–
–

–
–
–

33
875
17

1,242
1,223
13,216

6,207
–

–
–

2,020
–

–
–

–
–

3,523
1,092

11,750
1,092

28,297
3,621

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

28,297
3,621

–

–

–

3,414

–

–

3,414
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7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(b)

Geographical segments
In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenue and results are attributed to the
segments based on the location of the customers. More than 90% of the Group’s assets and
liabilities are located in the region of Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
Accordingly, analysis of segment assets and liabilities based on the geographical segments has not
been disclosed. The following table presents revenue for the Group’s geographical segments:
For the year ended 30 June 2009

North

Hong

America

Kong

The PRC

Others

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

–

23,057

30,034

2,364

55,455

North

Hong

America

Kong

The PRC

Others

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

10

38,777

1,308

360

40,455

Revenue from
external
customers

For the year ended 30 June 2008

Revenue from
external
customers
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8.

OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

Other revenue
2

550

Rental income

427

1,351

Management fee income

192

999

–

4,404

685

292

1,306

7,596

–

117

Bank interest income

Other interest income
Others

Other income
Sundry income

9.

(LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

949

310

36,540

13,183

600

600

Amortisation of trademark

16

16

Amortisation of leasehold land

17

17

1,127

1,223

– land and buildings

3,299

2,013

– subleased land and building

1,375

3,041

8,209

11,750

(Loss)/profit from operations is stated after
(crediting)/charging:
Cost of inventories (included in cost of sales)
Amortisation of film rights (included in cost of sales)
Auditors’ remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Operating lease in respect of

Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade
and other receivables, deposits and prepayments
Write down on film production in progress
Write down on film rights
Write down on inventories
Write down on music production in progress
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

–

3,621

19,868

28,297

531

2,784

–

630

1,137

369

201,088

(89,919)

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
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10.

FINANCE COSTS
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

548

684

Interest on:
Bank borrowings wholly repayable
– within five years

284

3,910

19,496

15,732

151

142

20,479

20,468

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

12,598

13,814

514

496

13,112

14,310

Short-term borrowings
Imputed interest on convertible notes
Others

11.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Employee benefit expenses are analysed as follows:
Salaries and other benefits
Provident fund contributions

Retirement Benefit Scheme
Prior to 1 December 2000, the Group operated a defined contribution retirement benefits scheme
(“Defined Contribution Scheme”) for its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme
were held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Where
there are employees who leave the Defined Contribution Scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions,
the amount of the forfeited contributions would be used to reduce the contributions payable by the
Group. The Defined Contribution Scheme was terminated on 1 December 2000.
Effective from 1 December 2000, the Group joined the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all of its employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the Group and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules. No forfeited contribution is
available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.
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11.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)
Retirement Benefit Scheme (Continued)
The employees of the Company’s subsidiary in the PRC are members of the state-sponsored retirement
benefit scheme organised by the relevant local government authority in the PRC. The subsidiary is required
to contribute, based on a certain percentage of the basic salary of its employees, to the retirement benefit
scheme and has no further obligations for the actual payment of pension or post-retirement benefits
beyond the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme represent the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees.
The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its employees in respect of its subsidiaries outside
Hong Kong and the PRC.
Equity Compensation Benefits
Share Options
The Company has adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) on 23 November 2001
under which the directors may grant options to employees, including any directors of the Company, its
subsidiaries or any entity in which any member of the Group holds an equity interest to subscribe for
shares in the Company as incentive or rewards for their contribution to the Group. The subscription
price will be determined by the directors (subject to adjustment), and will not be less than (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for trades
in one or more board lots of shares on the date of offer of the options; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of offer of the options; or (iii) the nominal value of the shares of
the Company, whichever is the highest. The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under this scheme may not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.
The amount paid on acceptance of an option was HK$1. An option may be exercised at any time before
the expiration of ten years from the date of grant of the option. The maximum entitlement of each
participant under the Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period is 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue from time to time. As at the date of this report, a total of 193,880,199 shares of the Company
(representing 10% of the existing issued share capital of the Company as at 5 October 2009) are available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme will expire on 23 November 2011.
During the year, no share option was granted.
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12.

TAXATION
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Company and its subsidiaries incurred
taxation loss for the year (2008: Nil).
As at 30 June 2009, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately HK$163 million (2008: HK$130
million) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.
No provision for deferred tax liabilities has been made as the Group and the Company had no material
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements.
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at applicable tax rate:
2009
HK$’000

Loss before taxation

Tax at domestic income tax rate

2008
%

(284,473)
(46,938)

HK$’000

%

(7,204)
(16.5)

(1,189)

(16.5)

–

(31,853)

(442.1)

41,550

14.6

3,194

44.3

5,501

1.9

29,848

414.3

–

–

–

–

Tax effect of income that is not
taxable in determining
taxable profit

(113)

Tax effect of expenses that are
not deductible in determining
taxable profit
Tax effect of unrecognised
tax losses

Tax charge at the Group’s
effective rate

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed the Revenue Bill 2008 which reduced profits
tax rate from 17.5% to 16.5%. The changes have been taken into account in the preparation of the
Group’s 2008 consolidated financial statements.
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13.

NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Of the Group’s loss for the year of approximately HK$284,473,000 (2008: HK$7,204,000), HK$210,041,000
(2008: HK$55,129,000) has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

14.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The calculation of basic loss per ordinary share attributable to equity holders of the Company is based
on the following data:
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

284,473

7,204

Number

Number

of shares

of shares

’000

’000

1,938,802

1,462,912

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
for the purpose of basic loss per ordinary share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose of basic loss per share

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic loss per share for the year
ended 30 June 2009 is equal to the number of issued and fully paid capital as at 30 June 2009.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic loss per share for the year
ended 30 June 2008 has been adjusted for the rights issue on 15 November 2007.
For the year ended 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2009, diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss
per share as the outstanding convertible notes had anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share.

15.

DIVIDENDS
The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year
ended 30 June 2009 (2008: Nil).
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16.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(a)

Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the three (2008: four) executive directors and five
(2008: four) independent non-executive directors are as follows:
The Group
Provident
fund
Housing contributions
HK$’000
HK$’000

Fees
HK$’000

Salaries
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

1,200
–
–

–
–
1,800

–
–
420

–
–
12

1,200
–
2,232

120
100
28
50
72

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

120
100
28
50
72

1,570

1,800

420

12

3,802

1,200
–
50
–

–
1,800
–
–

–
350
–
–

–
12
–
–

1,200
2,162
50
–

120
100
200
200

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

120
100
200
200

1,870

1,800

350

12

4,032

Name of Director
2009:
Executive directors
Mr. Yu Kam Kee, Lawrence (1)
Dr. Allan Yap (2)
Mr. Wong Yat Cheung (3)
Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Li Fui Lung, Danny
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, Herman
Mr. Heung Pik Lun (4)
Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham (5)
Mr. Fong Shing Kwong, Michael (6)

Name of Director
2008:
Executive directors
Mr. Yu Kam Kee, Lawrence
Mr. Wong Yat Cheung
Mr. Yu Kam Yuen, Lincoln (7)
Mr. Tong Chin Shing (8)
Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Li Fui Lung, Danny
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, Herman
Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham (5)
Mr. Fong Shing Kwong, Michael (6)

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)

Mr. Yu Kam Kee, Lawrence resigned as Chairman and Executive Director on 1 October 2009.
Dr. Allan Yap appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 8 June 2009.
Mr. Wong Yat Cheung resigned as Managing Director while remaining as Executive Director on 8 June
2009.
Mr. Heung Pik Lun appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director on 20 March 2009.
Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham retired as Independent Non-Executive Director on 1 October 2008.
Mr. Fong Shing Kwong, Michael resigned as Independent Non-Executive Director on 10 November 2008.
Mr. Yu Kam Yuen, Lincoln resigned as Executive Director on 13 December 2007.
Mr. Tong Chin Shing retired as Executive Director on 7 December 2007.
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16.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)
(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
The emoluments of the directors fell within the following bands:
Number of directors
2009
2008
Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

(b)

6
1
–
1

6
1
–
1

8

8

Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year included two
(2008: two) directors of the Company, details of whose emoluments are set out above. The
aggregate emoluments of the remaining three (2008: three) individuals are as follows:

Salaries and other allowance
Retirement benefit scheme contributions

2009
HK$’000

2008
HK$’000

1,764
36

2,110
34

1,800

2,144

The emoluments of those individuals within the following bands:
Number of individuals
2009
2008
Nil to HK$1,000,000

3

3

For the year ended 30 June 2009 and 2008, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five
highest paid individuals, including the director, as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors has waived any emolument
during the year.
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17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Group
Artiste
contract
Trademarks

rights

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

81

120

201

At 1 July 2007

16

120

136

Provided for the year

16

–

16

32

120

152

16

–

16

48

120

168

At 30 June 2009

33

–

33

At 30 June 2008

49

–

49

Cost:
At 30 June 2008,1 July 2008 and
30 June 2009
Accumulated amortisation and impairment:

At 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008
Provided for the year
At 30 June 2009
Net book value:

Notes:
(i)

The amortisation expense has been included in the line item administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statement.

(ii)

The above intangible assets have definite useful lives. Such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line
basis over the following periods:
Trademarks

5 years

Artiste contract rights

40 years
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17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
The Company
Trademarks
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

81

81

Beginning of year

32

16

Provided for the year

16

16

End of year

48

32

33

49

Cost:
Beginning and end of year
Accumulated amortisation and impairment:

Net book value:
End of year

Notes:
(i)

The above intangible assets have definite useful lives. Such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line
basis over five years.
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18.

LEASEHOLD LAND
The Group
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

14,321

14,321

Beginning of year

58

41

Provided for the year

17

17

End of year

75

58

14,246

14,263

Cost:
Beginning and end of year
Accumulated amortisation:

Net book value:
End of year

The Group’s leasehold land was located in Hong Kong which represents operating lease payments under
long-term lease and the lease payments are amortised on a straight-line method over the remaining term
of lease.
At 30 June 2009, the Group’s leasehold land with a net book value of approximately HK$14,246,000
(2008: HK$14,263,000) was pledged to secure the banking facilities granted to the Company.
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19.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The Group
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold

and

Motor

Buildings improvement equipment

vehicles

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

7,558

2,514

2,166

650

12,888

Additions

–

867

375

–

1,242

Disposals

–

(399)

(63)

–

(462)

7,558

2,982

2,478

650

13,668

Additions

–

593

930

–

1,523

Disposals

–

(2,212)

(542)

–

(2,754)

7,558

1,363

2,866

650

12,437

At 1 July 2007

457

968

704

163

2,292

Charge for the year

189

449

455

130

1,223

–

(71)

(22)

–

(93)

At 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008

646

1,346

1,137

293

3,422

Charge for the year

189

265

543

130

1,127

–

(1,330)

(287)

–

(1,617)

835

281

1,393

423

2,932

At 30 June 2009

6,723

1,082

1,473

227

9,505

At 30 June 2008

6,912

1,636

1,341

357

10,246

Cost:
At 1 July 2007

At 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008

At 30 June 2009
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment:

Written back on disposals

Written back on disposals
At 30 June 2009
Net book value:

At 30 June 2009, the Group’s buildings with carrying amounts of HK$6,723,000 (2008: HK$6,912,000)
were pledged to secure the banking facilities granted to the Company.
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19.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
The Company
Furniture,
Leasehold

fixtures and

improvement

equipment

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

2,041

1,388

3,429

16

18

34

Cost:
At 1 July 2007
Additions

At 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008

2,057

1,406

3,463

Additions

500

570

1,070

Disposals

(2,044)

(331)

(2,375)

513

1,645

2,158

At 1 July 2007

869

525

1,394

Charge for the year

409

279

688

1,278

804

2,082

106

310

416

(1,283)

(194)

(1,477)

101

920

1,021

At 30 June 2009

412

725

1,137

At 30 June 2008

779

602

1,381

At 30 June 2009
Accumulated depreciation and impairment:

At 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008
Charge for the year
Written back on disposals
At 30 June 2009
Net book value:
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20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

–

–

26,583

72,365

26,583

72,365

Share of net assets of associates
Goodwill arising on acquisition of associates (note b)

Notes:
(a)

Particulars of the Group’s interests in associates as at 30 June 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

Attributable to
Place of
Name

incorporation

TVB Pay Vision

Hong Kong

Registered equity interest

Profit

capital

of the Group

sharing

HK$

%

%

1,085,867,759

49

49

Principal activities

Investment

Holdings Limited

holding in

(“TVBP”)

Hong Kong

TVB Pay

Hong Kong

2*

49

49

Domestic

Vision Limited

pay television

(“TVBPV”)

programme
service in
Hong Kong

*

94

an associate held indirectly by the Group
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20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Notes (Continued):
(b)

Movement of goodwill arising on acquisition of associates is as follow:

Beginning of year
Transfer to asset held for sale (Note 31)

End of year

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

72,365

72,365

(45,782)

26,583

–

72,365

On 30 June 2009, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement for the disposal of 31% interests
out of the 49% interests in TVBP (the “Disposal”) held by the Group. Details were set out in Note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.
Upon completion of the Disposal, the Group’s interest in TVBP will be decreased from 49% to 18% and will
cease to have significant influence over TVBP. The carrying amount of the goodwill amounting to approximately
HK$26,583,000 shall then be regarded as an investment and measure at cost less impairment accordingly.
(c)

At 30 June 2009, the directors of the Company assessed the recoverable amount of goodwill arising on the
acquisition of associates by reference to the valuation as at 30 June 2009 performed by Norton Appraisals
Limited (“Norton Appraisals”), an independent firm of professional valuers, and considered that no impairment
loss should be made (2008: Nil) to the consolidated income statement. The valuation of the goodwill was
determined based on the present value of the expected future cash flow arising from the business of the
associates.
The recoverable amount of the Cash Generated Unit (“CGU”) is determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a period of five years. Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are represented by its continuing value using 0%
growth rate (2008: 3%).
Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:

Discount rate

2009

2008

13.67%

15.67%

The management determined the budgeted growth rate based on past performance and its expectation for
market development. The discount rate used is after-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the CGU.
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20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Notes (Continued):
(d)

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses of associates. The amounts of unrecognised
share of loss of the associates, extracted from the unaudited management account of the associates are as
follows:

(e)

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

Unrecognised share of loss of the associates for the year

104,629

117,509

Accumulated unrecognised share of loss of associates

292,622

187,993

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s interests in associates for the year ended 30
June 2009 and 2008 are set out below:

Turnover

Loss for the year

Loss attributable to the Group for the year

2008
HK$’000

275,249

255,099

(213,529)

(239,815)

–

–

Total assets
Total liabilities

275,671
(872,427)

336,645
(719,872)

Net liabilities

(596,756)

(383,227)

Net assets attributable to the Group

96

2009
HK$’000
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21.

INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

Name of jointly
controlled entity
SSA Amusement
Limited

Form of
business
structure

Place of
incorporation/
operations

Class of
shares held

Incorporated

Hong Kong

Ordinary

Proportion of
issued share
capital held
by the Group
50%

Principal
activities
Provision of
entertainment and
promotion services

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s jointly controlled entity which is accounted
for using proportionate consolidation with the line-by-line reporting format is as follow:
Balance sheet

Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets

2009
HK$’000

1,594
274
1,868

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Net liabilities
Income statement

(2,132)
(264)
2009
HK$’000

Revenue
Cost of sales

5,099
(3,826)

Gross profit
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses

1,273
(1,365)
(1,171)

Loss from operations
Finance costs

(1,263)
–

Loss before taxation
Taxation

(1,263)
–

Loss for the year

(1,263)
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22.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The Company
2009
HK$’000
Unlisted shares, at cost
Impairment loss recognised

Amounts due from subsidiaries
Provision for impairment

2008
HK$’000

1
(1)

1
(1)

–
838,640
(498,611)

–
785,403
(330,328)

340,029

455,075

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed repayment
terms. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the amounts due from subsidiaries are not expected
to be repaid within the next twelve months from the balance sheet date. The carrying amount of these
amounts due from subsidiaries approximates to its fair value.
The carrying amounts of the investments in subsidiaries and amounts due from subsidiaries are reduced to
their recoverable amounts after the impairment loss recognised cumulative of HK$1 and HK$498,681,000
as at 30 June 2009, respectively. (30 June 2008: HK$1 and HK$330,328,000, respectively.)
Impairment loss for investments in subsidiaries and amounts due from subsidiaries were recognised
based on the recoverable amounts which were determined based on the present value of the estimated
discounted future cash flows from these subsidiaries using the prevailing market rate.
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22.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
The Company (Continued)
Details of the Company’s significant subsidiaries as at 30 June 2009 are set out as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Nominal value of
issued shares/
registered capital

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued shares/
registered capital
held by the Company Principal activities
Directly Indirectly

Anyone Holdings Limited

British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”)

US$1

100%

–

Property holding

Cross Challenge Limited

BVI

US$1

100%

–

Investment holding

Day Achieve Limited

BVI

US$1

100%

–

Investment holding

Ease Strong Limited

Hong Kong

HK$1

100%

–

Provision of secretarial
services

Enjoy Profits Limited

BVI

US$1

100%

–

Investment holding

Future Alliance Limited

BVI

US$1

100%

–

Investment holding

Grand Class Investment
Limited

BVI

US$1

100%

–

Investment holding

Icon International Model
Management Limited

Hong Kong

HK$500,000

–

100%

Provision of
modelling agency
services

Media Platform Limited

BVI

US$1

100%

–

Investment holding

Mega-Vision Pictures
Limited

Hong Kong

HK$1

–

80%

Investment in,
production and
distribution of
film and TV
programme
production

Mega-Vision Productions
Limited

Hong Kong

HK$10,000,000

–

80%

Investment in,
production and
distribution of
film and TV
programme
production
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22.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
The Company (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

100

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Nominal value of
issued shares/
registered capital

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued shares/
registered capital
held by the Company Principal activities
Directly Indirectly

See Entertainment
Limited

Hong Kong

HK$1

–

100%

Provision of event
management
services

See Movie Limited

Hong Kong

HK$1

–

100%

Investment in,
production and
distribution of
film and TV
programme
production

See Music Limited

Hong Kong

HK$1

–

100%

Production of
music record
and provision of
promotion services

See People Limited

Hong Kong

HK$1

–

100%

Provision of artiste
management
services

Shineidea Limited

BVI

US$1

100%

–

Snazz Artistes Limited

Hong Kong

HK$100

–

100%

Provision of artiste
management
services

Snazz Entertainment Group
Limited

BVI

HK$7,800

–

100%

Investment holding

Snazz Music Limited

Hong Kong

HK$100

–

100%

Production of
music records and
provision of
artiste promotion
services
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22.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
The Company (Continued)

Nominal value of
issued shares/
registered capital

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued shares/
registered capital
held by the Company Principal activities
Directly Indirectly

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Talent Bang Limited

Hong Kong

HK$100

–

100%

Provision of
modelling agency
services

See Base Limited (Formerly
known as The Metropolis
Wedding Group Limited)
(note iv)

Hong Kong

HK$1

–

100%

Hong Kong properties
subletting

Wise Novel Investments
Limited

BVI

US$1

100%

–

Investment holding

Notes:
(i)

All are ordinary share capital unless otherwise stated.

(ii)

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

(iii)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

(iv)

Change of subsidiary’s name effective from 2 October 2009.
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23.

GOODWILL
The Group
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

1,245

1,245

1,245

153

–

1,092

1,245

1,245

–

–

Cost:
Beginning and end of year
Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
Beginning of year
Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill

End of year
Carrying amount:
End of year

Notes:
(a)

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGU as provision of model agency services.

(b)

The recoverable amount of the CGU of provision of model agency services has been determined by reference
to value-in-use calculation based on a five-year projection of the CGU. A discount rate of 5.4% per annum was
applied in the value-in-use model which use cash flow projections based on forecasts approved by the directors
of the Company (the “CGU Forecast”) covering a five-year period. There are a number of assumptions and
estimates involved for the preparation of the cash flow projections for the period covered by the CGU Forecast.
Key assumptions included budgeted sales and gross margin which are determined by the management of the
Group based on past experience and its expectation for market development.
During the year ended 30 June 2008, the directors of the Company determined that the goodwill was impaired
due to worsen marketability for the provision of model agency services and an impairment loss of approximately
HK$1,092,000 was recognised in 2008’s consolidated income statements accordingly.
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24.

FILM RIGHTS
The Group
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

107,682

82,349

74,500

25,333

182,182

107,682

Beginning of year

93,788

52,308

Amortisation provided for the year

36,540

13,183

Write down for the year

19,868

28,297

150,196

93,788

31,986

13,894

Cost:
Beginning of year
Additions

End of year
Accumulated amortisation and impairment:

End of year
Carrying amount:
End of year

At 30 June 2009, the directors of the Company reassessed the recoverable amount of film rights by
reference to the valuation report as at 30 June 2009 performed by Norton Appraisals and determined
to provide an impairment loss of approximately HK$19,868,000 (2008: HK$28,297,000) due to worsen
marketability of respective film rights.
The valuation was determined based on the present value of the expected future cash flow arising from
the sub-licensing and distribution of film rights and subsequent to the completion of film production,
which was derived from discounting the projected cash flows.
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25.

FILM PRODUCTION IN PROGRESS
The Group

Film production in progress

26.

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

119,465

106,149

INVENTORIES
The Group
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

224

400

Finished goods

The finished goods were carried at net realisable value.

27.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
The Group

Trade receivables, net

The Company

2009

2008

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

9,367

5,210

–

–

4,324

45,503

380

39,876

13,691

50,713

380

39,876

Other receivables, deposits
and prepayments
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27.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
The Group allows an average credit period of 90 to 180 days (2008: 90-180 days) to its customers. The
aged analysis of the trade receivables is as follows:
The Group

0 to 90 days
91 to 180 days
181 days or above

The Company

2009

2008

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

6,192

3,978

–

–

446

439

–

–

10,159

10,076

25

25

16,797

14,493

25

25

(7,430)

(9,283)

(25)

(25)

9,367

5,210

Less: Impairment loss recognised
in respect of trade receivables
Total

–

–

Trade receivables of approximately HK$2,729,000 (2008: 1,130,000) that were past due which over
180 days but not impaired for. These balances related to a number of customers that have good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance
is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.
Trade receivables of approximately HK$7,430,000 (2008: HK$9,283,000) that were past due which over
180 days and impaired for. In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the directors of the
Company considered any change in the credit quality of the trade receivables from the date credit were
initially granted up to the reporting date. Accordingly, the directors of the Company considered provision
for impairment in values be made in respect of trade receivables to their recoverable values and believe
that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:
The Group

Beginning of year
Write off for the year

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

9,283

6,107

(4,899)

–

Impairment losses recognised in respect of trade receivables

3,046

3,176

End of year

7,430

9,283
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28.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
The Group
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

54,929

256,017

Listed securities:
– Equity securities listed in Hong Kong at fair value

At the balance sheet date, all financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value.
Fair values of the listed investments have been determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices
available on the relevant stock exchanges.
At 30 June 2009, the details of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of which
the carrying amount exceeds 10% of total assets of the Group are as follows:
Place of

Particulars and percentage

Name

incorporation

Principal activities

Big Media Group Limited

Cayman Islands

Production and sales of

(SEHK stock code 8167)

videos and films,
the licensing of video
copyrights/film rights and
artiste management
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29.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
The pledged of bank deposits were released during the year and the Group has no pledged of bank
deposits as of 30 June 2009.
At 30 June 2008, the Group’s and the Company’s bank deposits amounted to HK$763,000, which carried
at prevailing market interest rate, were pledged to a bank to secure its bank guarantees given as rental
deposits of certain operating leases in respect of land and building in Hong Kong and be released upon
the discharge of the operating leases.
The directors of the Company considered that the carrying amounts of the pledged bank deposits as of
30 June 2008 were approximate to their fair values.

30.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES
The Group

Cash at bank and on hand

The Company

2009

2008

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

31,547

46,168

26,485

39,349

Notes:
(a)

At the balance sheet date, the cash and bank balances of the Group and the Company are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars.

(b)

Cash at bank earn interests at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits during the
year ended 30 June 2009 are made for varying period between one day and three months, depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates.
The carrying amounts of the cash and bank balances were approximate to their fair values.
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31.

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
On 30 June 2009, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with TVB Satellite TV Holdings
Limited in relation to the Disposal at a cash consideration of approximately HK$212,745,000. Before
the Disposal, TVBP was classified as an associate by the Group as it held 49% of the entire issued share
capital of TVBP and can exercise significant influence over TVBP.
TVBP is an investment holding company and its wholly owned subsidiary, TVBPV, is principally engaged
in domestic pay television programme service in Hong Kong. Details of the Disposal were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 6 July 2009.
The major class of assets classified as held for sale were as follows:
HK$’000

Interests in associates

32.

45,782

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
The Group

The Company

2009

2008

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

Trade payables

13,270

1,978

–

–

Other payables

51,611

15,583

32,024

4,166

64,881

17,561

32,024

4,166

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables of the Group at the balance sheet date:
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

0 to 90 days

6,564

264

91 days or above

6,706

1,714

13,270

1,978

The directors of the Company considered that the carrying amounts of the trade and other payables were
approximate to their fair values.
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33.

SHORT-TERM LOAN – UNSECURED
The short-term loan is unsecured, chargeable with interest at 2% over the best lending rate of Hong
Kong dollar and repayable on demand. The carrying amount of the short-term loan is denominated in
Hong Kong dollars.

34.

BANK OVERDRAFT – SECURED
During the year ended 30 June 2009, the Company had been granted an overdraft facility from a bank.
The bank overdraft is secured by the Group’s building and leasehold land in Hong Kong with carrying
amounts at 30 June 2009 of approximately HK$6,723,000 (2008: HK$6,912,000) and HK$14,246,000
(2008: HK$14,263,000) respectively, chargeable with interest at the lending bank’s prime rate per
annum or 1% per annum over Hong Kong Inter-bank Offer Rate, whichever is higher and repayable on
demand.
The carrying amount of the bank overdraft is denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
The directors of the Company considered that the carrying amount of the bank overdraft was approximate
to its fair value.

35.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES
The Group and the Company
2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

2005 Convertible Notes (note i)

170,784

157,336

2007 Convertible Notes (note ii)

99,325

93,277

270,109

250,613

Liability component

Less: Amount due within one year and
classified as current liabilities

(99,325)

–

170,784

250,613

2005 Convertible Notes (note i)

45,920

45,920

2007 Convertible Notes (note ii)

10,058

10,058

55,978

55,978

Amount due after one year

Equity component
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35.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)
Notes:
(i)

HK$170,000,000 convertible notes issued in 2005 and due in 2010 (the “2005 Convertible Notes”)
On 21 April 2005, the Company entered into a subscription agreement (the “2005 Subscription Agreement”)
in relation of issuance of HK$170,000,000 zero-coupon convertible notes due on 9 August 2010 to Hanny
Holdings Limited (“Hanny”).
Pursuant to the 2005 Subscription Agreement, Hanny may at any business date after the date of issue of the
2005 Convertible Notes up to and including the date prior to the fifth anniversary of the date of issue of the
2005 Convertible Notes convert the whole or any part in an amount or integral multiple of HK$500,000 of
the principal amount of the 2005 Convertible Notes into shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company, at the conversion price of HK$0.12 per share (as adjusted after the rights issue, share consolidation
and issuing of convertible notes of the Company in prior years). The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 8.55% per annum to the Company. Unless previously converted by Hanny, the 2005 Convertible
Notes will be redeemed on the date of maturity at 110% of the principal amount of the 2005 Convertible
Notes then outstanding.
The conversion price of the 2005 Convertible Notes of HK$170,000,000 had been adjusted from HK$0.12 per
share to HK$0.0406 per share as a result of the right issue taken place on 30 June 2006.
The conversion price of the 2005 Convertible Notes had been further adjusted from HK$0.0406 per share to
HK$4.06 per share as a result of the share consolidation taken place on 31 October 2006.
The conversion price of the 2005 Convertible Notes had been further adjusted from HK$4.06 per share to
HK$1.69 per share as a result of the rights issue taken place on 16 May 2007.
The conversion price of the 2005 Convertible Notes had been further adjusted from HK1.69 per share to
HK$1.09 per share as a result of the rights issue taken place on 15 November 2007.
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35.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)
Notes (Continued):
(i)

HK$170,000,000 convertible notes issued in 2005 and due in 2010 (the “2005 Convertible Notes”)
(Continued)
The conversion price of the 2005 Convertible Notes had been further adjusted from HK$1.09 per share to
HK$1.08 per share as a result of the issue of the 2007 Convertible Notes taken place on 5 December 2007.
The 2005 Convertible Notes are denominated in Hong Kong dollar, contain two components, liability and equity
elements. The Company determined the fair value of the liability component using an equivalent market interest
rate for a similar note without a conversion option. The residual amount is assigned as the equity component
and included in shareholder’s equity named as convertible notes reserves.
The movement of the liability component of the 2005 Convertible Notes for the year ended 30 June 2009 is
as follow:

Beginning of year
Imputed interest expenses

End of year

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

157,336

144,939

13,448

12,397

170,784

157,336

See Corporation Limited Annual Report 2009

111

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2009

35.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)
Notes (Continued):
(ii)

HK$100,000,000 convertible notes issued in 2007 and due in 2009 (the “2007 Convertible Notes”)
On 20 June 2007, the Company entered into another subscription agreement (the “2007 Subscription
Agreement”) in relation of issuance of HK$100,000,000 1% convertible notes due in 2009 to Hanny. The
2007 Convertible Notes were issued on 5 December 2007.
Pursuant to the 2007 Subscription Agreement, Hanny may at any business date after the date of issue of the
2007 Convertible Notes up to and including the date prior to the second anniversary of the date of issue of
the 2007 Convertible Notes convert the whole or any part in an amount or integral multiple of HK$1,000,000
of the principal amount of the 2007 Convertible Notes into shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company, at the conversion price of HK$0.40 per share (as adjusted after the right issue, share consolidation
and issuing of convertible notes of the Company in prior years). The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 7.07% per annum to the Company. Unless previously converted by Hanny, the 2007 Convertible
Notes will be redeemed on the date of maturity at the principal amount of the 2007 Convertible Notes then
outstanding.
The 2007 Convertible Notes are denominated in Hong Kong dollar, contains two components, liability and
equity elements. The Company determined the fair value of the liability component based on the valuations
performed by Norton Appraisals using an equivalent market interest rate for a similar note without a conversion
option. The residual amount is assigned as the equity component and included in shareholder’s equity named
as convertible notes reserves.
The movement of the liability component of the 2007 Convertible Notes for the year ended 30 June 2009 is
as follow:

Beginning of year
Fair value of the 2007 Convertible Notes at inception date
Imputed interest expenses

End of year
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2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

93,277

–

–

89,942

6,048

3,335

99,325

93,277
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36.

SHARE CAPITAL
Number
of shares

Nominal
value
HK$’000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
at 30 June 2008, 1 July 2008 and 30 June 2009

50,000,000,000

500,000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At 1 July 2007

646,267,330

6,462

Rights issue (note i)

1,292,534,660

12,926

At 30 June 2008, 1 July 2008 and 30 June 2009

1,938,801,990

19,388

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at a special general meeting
on 22 October 2007, rights issue of 1,292,534,660 rights shares at price of HK$0.12 each payable in
full on acceptance on the basis that two rights shares for every existing share has been approved by
the shareholders at the special general meeting. The rights issue has been completed on 15 November
2007.
All new shares issued ranked pari passu with the then existing shares in all respects.
Share options
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”), further details of which are set out under
the heading “Employee Compensation Benefits” in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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37.

RESERVES
The Group
Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the years ended 30 June 2008 and 30 June
2009 were set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
The Company
Convertible

At 1 July 2007

Share

notes

Accumulated

premium

reserve

deficits

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

362,707

45,920

(244,305)

164,322

142,178

–

–

142,178

(4,845)

–

–

(4,845)

–

10,058

–

10,058

–

–

(55,129)

(55,129)

500,040

55,978

(299,434)

256,584

–

–

(210,041)

(210,041)

500,040

55,978

(509,475)

46,543

Premium arising from issue of
shares on rights issue (note a)
Shares issue expenses
on rights issue
Convertible notes
– equity component (note b)
Net loss for the year

At 30 June 2008
and at 1 July 2008
Net loss for the year
At 30 June 2009

Notes:
(a)

On 13 September 2007, the Company proposed to raise approximately HK$155 million before expenses by way
of the right issue of 1,292,534,660 rights shares at a price of HK$0.12 each on the basis that two rights shares
in nil-paid form for every share held on the record date. The rights issue was approved by the shareholders at
the special general meeting held on 13 November 2007.

(b)

In accordance with HKAS 32, convertible notes issued are split into their liability and equity components at initial
recognition by recognising the liability component at its fair value which is determined using market interest
rate for equivalent non-convertible notes and attributing to the equity component the difference between
the proceeds from issue and the fair value of the liability component. The liability component is subsequently
carried at amortised cost. The equity component is recognised in the convertible notes reserve until the notes
are either converted (in which case it is transferred to share premium) or the notes are redeemed (in which
case it is released directly to accumulated deficits).
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38.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
As lessee
At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating leases, in respect of land and building, which fall due as follows:

Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

2,621

6,469

735

12,272

3,356

18,741

During the year, the Group shortened the leasing period and surrendered certain of its operating leases in
respect of land and buildings in Hong Kong by agreements with a landlord and respective sub-tenants.
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39.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
On 19 June 2008, the Group disposed of 100% interest in two subsidiaries, including Great Central
Trading Limited and Ruian Technology Company Limited at a consideration of US$1, resulting in gain on
disposal of approximately HK$2,082,000 in fiscal 2008.
The net liabilities of the subsidiaries at the date of disposal were as follows:
2008
HK$’000

Net assets disposed of:
Trade and other receivables

7

Trade and other payables

(2,089)

Amount due to the Group

(19,933)

Net liabilities

(22,015)

Amount due to the Group written off on disposal
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Total consideration

19,933
2,082

–

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration

–

Bank balances and cash disposed of

–

–
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40.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(i)

As at 30 June 2004, the Company provided corporate guarantees amounting to approximately
HK$24 million to a financial institution in respect of banking facilities granted to WIIL group,
approximately HK$5.5 million of which was utilised by members of the WIIL group and such amount
was claimed by the financial institution as disclosed in point (iii) below.

(ii)

The Company and its ex-subsidiary, P.N. Electronics Ltd. (“PNE”) have been involved in arbitration
proceeding with North American Foreign Trading Corporation (“NAFT”) in respect of a gross
receivable of HK$18 million and related damages from various parties for goods shipped by PNE and
NAFT in 1996. The arbitration proceedings were initiated by NAFT against the Company and PNE
claiming for alleged damages in New York, USA. The Company has upon legal advice, vigorously
contested the alleged claims and has counterclaimed the said sum of HK$18 million as well as
other damages. The arbitration proceeding have been dormant for a substantial period of time.

(iii)

On 13 October 2003, a Writ of Summons and Statement of Claim was issued by BII Finance
Company Limited (“BII Finance”) against the Company under a guarantee allegedly given by the
Company in favour of BII Finance in respect of certain liabilities of Welback Enterprises Limited. The
claim is for a sum of approximately HK$3,583,000 and US$248,000 (approximately HK$1,936,000),
together with interest.
The Company has issued Third Party proceedings against Mr. Lee Chun Kwok and Mr. Fong Wing
Seng, former directors of the Company, seeking a contribution to the extent of 49% of BII Finance’s
claim in the event that the Company is found liable to BII Finance (which is denied).
The Company will continue to defend BII Finance’s claim, and will also continue to pursue the
Third Party proceedings against Mr. Lee Chun Kwok and Mr. Fong Wing Seng. BII Finance has not
taken any steps to progress with the action since June 2006.
Save as disclosed above, no member of the Group is engaged in any litigation or claims of material
importance and no litigation or claims of material importance is known to the directors of the
Company to be pending or threatened by or against any member of the Group.

See Corporation Limited Annual Report 2009

117

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2009

41.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Save as disclose elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the following material transactions
with related parties during the year:
During the year, the Group had significant transaction with the following related parties, together with
balances with them at the respective balance sheet date, details of which are as follows:
(a)

Entities with common directors:

Travelling service expenses (note i)
Film/TV Programme production cost (note i)

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

45

–

4,110

6,087

Note:
(i)

(b)

The transactions were carried at price agreed between the parties.

Shareholders:

Management fee paid to a shareholder
Convertible notes issued to a shareholder (note i)

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

600

676

270,109

250,613

19,496

15,732

5,742

–

Imputed interest expenses in respect of convertible
notes issued to a shareholder (note i)
Repayment of short-term loan to a shareholder

Note:
(i)

The convertible notes payable by the Group is unsecured and repayable on 9 August 2010 (interest
free notes) and 4 December 2009 (interest bearing notes), respectively. Details of the convertible notes
are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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41.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(c)

Compensation of key management personnel:

Salaries and other benefits
Provident fund contributions

42.

2009

2008

HK$’000

HK$’000

3,790

4,020

12

12

3,802

4,032

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
On 30 June 2009, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement for the Disposal at a cash
consideration of approximately HK$212,745,000. The transaction constitutes a very substantial disposal
for the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and the completion of the Disposal is conditional
upon:
(i)

the approval of the shareholders of the Company which in compliance with the Listing Rules;
and

(ii)

the approval of the Broadcasting Authority to extend the deadline for implementing the proposed
shareholding structure of TVBP immediately after completion of the Disposal to 25 November
2009.

Details of the transaction were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 6 July 2009.

43.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 5 October 2009.
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Five Year Financial Summary
For the year ended 30 June 2009
The following is a summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the five years
ended 30 June 2009:

RESULTS
Year ended 30 June
2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

55,983

37,334

43,792

40,455

55,455

(26,602)

(260,690)

(121,094)

(7,204)

(18,110)

(4,145)

–

–

(44,712)

(264,835)

(121,094)

(7,204)

(284,473)

the Company

(36,799)

(261,914)

(120,033)

(7,204)

(284,473)

Minority interests

(7,913)

(2,921)

(1,061)

–

(44,712)

(264,835)

(121,094)

(7,204)

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

83,339

437,594

352,988

571,703

348,361

(11,023)

(281,512)

(218,252)

(283,854)

(344,985)

72,316

156,082

134,736

287,849

3,376

70,879

155,021

134,736

287,849

3,376

1,437

1,061

–

–

–

72,316

156,082

134,736

287,849

3,376

Turnover

Loss for the year from continuing
operations

(284,473)

Loss for the year from
discontinued operations
Loss for the year

–

Attributable to:
Equity holders of
–
(284,473)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
At 30 June

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets

Capital and reserves attributable to
the Company’s equity holders
Minority interests
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